Rogers Sugar Inc.
Press release – 1st Quarter 2018 Results
FREE CASH $2.7 MILLION HIGHER THAN PRIOR YEAR
STRONG VOLUME IN THE SUGAR SEGMENT
ACQUISITION OF DECACER COMPLEMENTS MAPLE SYRUP PORTFOLIO ACQUIRED IN FISCAL 2017

During the quarter, Rogers Sugar Inc. (the “Company”) expanded its operational capabilities and maple syrup
product offering with the acquisition of another maple syrup bottler, securing a global leadership position in the maple syrup
industry. On November 18, 2017, the Company acquired from the Levasseur Family 100% of 9020-2292 Québec Inc.
(“Decacer”), a company operated under the “Decacer” trade name for approximately $40.0 million, in addition to closing
adjustments of approximately $3.0 million. Decacer has one bottling plant in Dégelis, Québec. This acquisition, combined
with the earlier acquisition of LBMT, allows us to create a solid platform and to broaden the Company’s maple syrup
operations and expand its product offering, including a unique maple sugar dehydration technology as well as enhancing the
potential for additional operational synergies. The acquisition was funded by a drawdown under the Company’s existing
$275.0 million revolving credit facility, which was subsequently increased by $40.0 million to $315.0 million on December 20,
2017.
As a result of the acquisition of LBMT and Decacer, the Company now has the following two operating segments:
Sugar and Maple products.
Sugar
The industrial market segment decreased by approximately 1,000 metric tonnes for the quarter, mostly due to timing
in sugar deliveries, while the consumer volume increased for the current quarter by approximately 300 metric tonnes
compared to the same period last year. Liquid volume ended the period at approximately 3,800 metric tonnes higher than the
first quarter of last year. The increase is explained by additional demand from existing customers and liquid sugar deliveries
of a high fructose corn syrup (“HFCS”) substitutable customer in Western Canada for the full quarter of fiscal 2018 as opposed
to two months in the first quarter of fiscal 2017. Exports increased by approximately 2,700 metric tonnes for the current
quarter due to timing in deliveries of the Canada specific U.S. quota and Mexico sales, as well as additional U.S. high tier
opportunistic sales versus the comparative period last year.
With the mark-to-market of all derivative financial instruments and embedded derivatives in non-financial instruments
at the end of each reporting period, our accounting income does not represent a complete understanding of factors and trends
affecting the business. Consistent with previous reporting, we prepared adjusted gross margin and adjusted earnings results
to reflect the performance of the Company during the period without the impact of the mark-to-market of derivative financial
instruments and embedded derivatives in non-financial instruments. Earnings before interest and income taxes (“EBIT”) for
the Sugar segment included a mark-to-market gain of $4.8 million for the first quarter which was deducted to calculate
adjusted EBIT and adjusted gross margin results. See “Non-GAAP measures” section in the MD&A.
Adjusted gross margin for the quarter was $31.2 million compared to $29.1 million for the same quarter last year,
representing an increase of $2.1 million. Included in adjusted gross margin is a non-cash pension plan income of $1.5 million
recorded as a result of the approval by the Alberta Treasury Board and Finance of an amendment to the Alberta hourly
pension plan. Excluding this non-cash income, adjusted gross margin was $29.7 million or $0.6 million higher than last year,
mostly due to higher sales volume, somewhat offset by additional operating expenses, such as higher energy costs
associated to the new carbon tax in Alberta, higher maintenance costs, due to timing and to consulting fees incurred relating
to air emission reduction initiatives in Taber. Adjusted gross margin rate was $179.19 per metric tonne or $170.70 per metric
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tonne, when excluding the non-cash pension plan income of $8.49 per metric tonne, and as a result, adjusted gross margin
decreased by $2.22 per metric tonne versus the first quarter of fiscal 2017. The decrease is due mainly to the additional
operating expenses explained above.
Administration and selling expenses for the first quarter of fiscal 2018 were $0.3 million lower than the comparable
period last year mostly explained by a reduction in employee benefits.
Adjusted results from operating activities for the first quarter of $23.8 million were $2.3 million higher than the
comparable period year. The increase is mainly due to the non-cash pension plan income, higher sales volume and lower
administrative and selling expenses, somewhat offset by additional operating expenses, mainly in Taber, as explained above.
Maple products
Revenues for the first quarter include revenues generated by Decacer since its acquisition on November 18, 2017.
Gross margin of $7.1 million for the quarter does not reflect the economic margin of the Maple products segment, as
it includes a gain of $1.0 million for the mark-to-market of derivative financial instruments on foreign exchange contracts. The
mark-to-market gain was deducted to calculate adjusted EBITDA and adjusted gross margin results. See “Non-GAAP
measures” section in the MD&A.
In addition to the impact of the mark-to-market adjustment for derivative instruments, the acquisition by LBMT of
Decacer has resulted in expenses that do not reflect the economic performance of the operation of LBMT. Finally, certain
non-cash items and non-recurring expenses also had a negative impact on the results from operating activities. As such
Management believes that the Maple products segment’s financial results are more meaningful to management, investors,
analysts, and any other interested parties when financial results are adjusted for the above mentioned items. See “Non-GAAP
measures” section in the MD&A. Maple products Adjusted EBITDA is defined as the earnings before interest expenses, taxes
and depreciation and amortization expenses of the Maple products segment, adjusted for the total adjustment to cost of sales
relating to its segment and non-recurring expenses.
Adjusted gross margin for the quarter was $6.1 million, representing an adjusted gross margin percentage of 12.4%.
However, included in cost of sales, is an amount of $0.3 million due to an increase in value of the finished goods inventory at
the date of acquisition of Decacer. Under IFRS, all inventory of finished goods upon acquisition is valued at the estimated
selling price less the sum of the costs of disposal, and a reasonable profit allowance for the selling effort of the acquirer which
results in, lower selling margins when the acquired inventory is sold. As at December 30, 2017, there was no finished goods
inventory remaining that existed as at the acquisition date. Without this adjustment, adjusted gross margin would have been
$6.4 million or 13.0% of revenues.
Administration and selling expenses of $3.2 million include $0.7 million in consulting fees and other costs incurred as
a result of the acquisition of Decacer and $0.3 million in non-recurring costs representing severance costs accrued to date.
Distribution expenses were $0.8 million for the period.
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The results of operations would therefore need to be adjusted by the following:
December 30, 2017
Results from operating activities

$

3,041

Total adjustment to cost of sales (1) (2)

(987)

Adjusted results from operating activities

2,054

Non-recurring expenses:
Acquisition costs incurred

710

Other non-recurring items

254

Finished goods valued at the estimated selling price less disposal cost
as of acquisition date

261

Depreciation and amortization

923

LBMT Adjusted EBITDA (1) (2)

$

(1)

See “Non-GAAP measures” section.

(2)

See “Adjusted results” within the unaudited condensed consolidated interim operating results section and “Segmented information” section of the MD&A.

4,202

Other non-recurring items represent severance costs accrued to date.
Consolidated
Adjusted gross margin for the quarter was $37.3 million versus $29.1 million for the comparable period last year.
During the current quarter, LBMT and Decacer contributed $6.1 million of adjusted gross margin. The remainder of the
positive adjusted gross margin variation is attributable to the Sugar segment and was explained above in the Sugar segment
section.
Adjusted EBIT for the first quarter of fiscal 2018 was $25.9 million compared to $21.5 million, an increase of $4.4
million. The increase in adjusted gross margin of $8.2 million was partly offset by higher administration and selling expenses
as well as distribution costs when compared to the comparable period, due mainly to LBMT and Decacer’s administrative and
selling expenses and distribution costs of $4.0 million for the quarter. Included in the current quarter’s administrative and
selling expenses of the Maple product segment is $0.7 million in acquisition costs incurred related to Decacer. Without the
acquisition costs, adjusted EBIT was $26.6 million, an increase of $5.1 million versus the comparable period last year.
The Decacer acquisition was funded from a drawdown under the revolving credit facility.
Net finance costs for the quarter were $1.7 million higher than the comparable period of last year, excluding the
amortization of the transitional balance, due to the increased borrowings under the revolving credit facility, the increase in
interest rates during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2017 and additional interest payable by LBMT to the Fédération des
Producteurs Acéricoles du Québec (“FPAQ”) on syrup purchases.
Free cash flow for the first quarter of 2018 was $17.4 million compared to $14.7 million for the same period last year,
an increase of $2.7 million. The increase is mainly explained by an increase in adjusted EBITDA, net of the non-cash pension
income (See “Non-GAAP measures” section in the MD&A) of $3.7 million as well as a decrease in income taxes paid of $2.8
million. Offsetting a portion of the positive variance is an increase in interest paid of $1.4 million, higher capital expenditures,
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net of operational excellence capital expenditures of $1.3 million and an increase in pension plan contributions of $0.6 million.
Also, an amount of $0.4 million was received during the first quarter of fiscal 2017 following the exercise of share options by
executives, compared to none in the current period. Finally, the Company paid $0.1 million in deferred financing charges
during the current quarter to amend the revolving credit facility.
Outlook
In fiscal 2018, we expect the industrial market segment to decrease slightly, while the consumer volume should be
comparable to fiscal 2017.
The liquid market segment should continue to be strong, benefitting from some growth with existing customers, the
recapture of some of the volume loss in fiscal 2017 and the benefit of a full year of supply to a large bottler account in Western
Canada. As a result, we expect the liquid market segment to surpass fiscal 2017 by approximately 10,000 metric tonnes.
As for the export segment, total volume is anticipated to increase by approximately 5,000 metric tonnes due to
additional sales to Mexico and U.S. high tier opportunistic sales.
Overall, we expect total volume to increase by approximately 10,000 metric tonnes.
In fiscal 2018, the Company will benefit from a full year of operations of LBMT. As previously presented in the short
form prospectus dated July 21, 2017, we expect LBMT’s Adjusted EBITDA (See “Non-GAAP measures” section of the MD&A)
to approximate $18.4 million, which includes an increase in sales volume and related selling margins in addition to some
operational efficiency gains for a total of approximately $2.9 million. Management does not expect LBMT’s Adjusted EBITDA
to vary significantly, although it could be slightly lower than anticipated. Integration gains related to internal operational
synergies have been revalidated and are expected to be well established in the second half of the fiscal year but are slightly
delayed from our original targets. Anticipated commercial gains have been generally positive but some evidence of more
competitive responses to new market growth has developed. In addition, Management expects non-recurring expenses of
approximately $1.0 million related to severance costs. In fiscal 2019, we expect additional integration gains of approximately
$2.1 million to be fully realized by the end of fiscal 2019. Therefore, fiscal 2019 Adjusted EBITDA for LBMT should amount to
approximately $20.5 million assuming the realization of all expected integration gains.
On November 20, 2017, the Company announced the acquisition of Decacer for $40.0 million, subject to post-closing
adjustments. Decacer’s Adjusted pro forma EBITDA (See “Non-GAAP measures” section) on an annual basis is estimated at
$5.1 million. This acquisition, combined with the earlier acquisition of LBMT, allows us to create a solid platform and to
broaden the Company’s maple syrup operations and expand its product offering, including a unique maple sugar dehydration
technology as well as enhancing the potential for additional operational synergies.
We expect energy costs to increase by approximately $1.5 million in fiscal 2018 as a result of the implementation of
the carbon tax in Alberta on January 1, 2017. The current carbon tax amounts to $1.011 per gigajoule and will increase to
$1.517 per gigajoule on January 1, 2018.
Capital expenditures for fiscal 2018 are expected to increase compared to fiscal 2017 as the Company intends to
spend approximately $6.0 million on operational excellence capital projects. The Company is currently evaluating various
scenarios in order to be fully compliant on air emission standards for the 2019 beet harvesting season and a decision is
expected next quarter. To achieve this objective, the Company expects to undertake significant capital expenditure for this
project, starting in the second half of the fiscal year. Early estimates of the net investment required to remediate the noncompliance range between $15 million and $25 million.
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The beet slicing campaign is expected to be completed in late February. We expect that the current crop should
derive approximately 125,000 metric tonnes of refined sugar.
Total pension plan expense is expected to decrease by approximately $2.4 million in fiscal 2018 as a result of the
increase in discount rates, as well as to the approval by the Alberta Treasury Board and Finance of an amendment to the
Alberta Hourly Plan.
As a result of the acquisition of LBMT and Decacer, as well as the recent increase in interest rate and expectations of
further increases by the Bank of Canada in fiscal 2018, we anticipate higher interest expense when compared to fiscal 2017.
FOR THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS,

Dallas H. Ross, Chairman
Vancouver, British Columbia – February 1, 2018
For further information:
Ms. Manon Lacroix, Vice President Finance, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary
Tel: (514) 940-4350 Fax: (514) 527-1610 - Visit our Websites at www.rogerssugarinc.com or www.Lantic.ca
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This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of Rogers Sugar Inc.’s (“Rogers”, “RSI” or the
“Company”) dated February 1, 2018 should be read in conjunction with the unaudited condensed
consolidated interim financial statements and related notes for the period ended December 30, 2017, as
well as the audited consolidated financial statements and MD&A for the year ended September 30, 2017.
The quarterly unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements and any amounts shown in
this MD&A were not reviewed nor audited by our external auditors.
Management is responsible for preparing the MD&A. This MD&A has been reviewed and approved by
the Audit Committee of Rogers and its Board of Directors.
NON-GAAP MEASURES
In analyzing results, we supplement the use of financial measures that are calculated and presented in
accordance with IFRS with a number of non-GAAP financial measures. A non-GAAP financial measure
is a numerical measure of a company’s performance, financial position or cash flow that excludes
(includes) amounts, or is subject to adjustments that have the effect of excluding (including) amounts, that
are included (excluded) in most directly comparable measures calculated and presented in accordance
with IFRS. Non-GAAP financial measures are not standardized; therefore, it may not be possible to
compare these financial measures with the non-GAAP financial measures of other companies having the
same or similar businesses. We strongly encourage investors to review the unaudited consolidated
financial statements and publicly filed reports in their entirety, and not to rely on any single financial
measure.
We use these non-GAAP financial measures in addition to, and in conjunction with, results presented in
accordance with IFRS. These non-GAAP financial measures reflect an additional way of viewing aspects
of the operations that, when viewed with the IFRS results and the accompanying reconciliations to
corresponding IFRS financial measures, may provide a more complete understanding of factors and
trends affecting our business.
The following is a description of the non-GAAP measures used by the Company in the MD&A:






Adjusted gross margin is defined as gross margin adjusted for:
 “the adjustment to cost of sales”, which comprises of the mark-to-market gains or losses on
sugar futures, foreign exchange forward contracts and embedded derivatives as shown in the
notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements and the
cumulative timing differences as a result of mark-to-market gains or losses on sugar futures,
foreign exchange forward contracts and embedded derivatives as described below; and
 “the amortization of transitional balance to cost of sales for cash flow hedges”, which is the
transitional marked-to-market balance of the natural gas futures outstanding as of October 1,
2016 amortized over time based on their respective settlement date until all existing natural
gas futures have expired, as shown in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
Adjusted EBIT is defined as EBIT adjusted for the adjustment to cost of sales, the amortization of
transitional balances to cost of sales for cash flow hedges.
Adjusted EBITDA is defined as adjusted EBIT adjusted to add back depreciation and
amortization expenses.
Adjusted net earnings is defined as net earnings adjusted for the adjustment to cost of sales, the
amortization of transitional balances to cost of sales for cash flow hedges, the amortization of
transitional balance to net finance costs and the income tax impact on these adjustments.
Amortization of transitional balance to net finance costs is defined as the transitional marked-tomarket balance of the interest rate swaps outstanding as of October 1, 2016, amortized over time
based on their respective settlement date until all existing interest rate swaps agreements have
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expired, as shown in the notes to the unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial
statements.
Adjusted gross margin rate per MT is defined as adjusted gross margin of the Sugar segment
divided by the sales volume of the Sugar segment.
Adjusted gross margin percentage is defined as the adjusted gross margin of the Maple segment
divided by the revenues generated by the Maple product segment.
Adjusted net earnings per share is defined as adjusted net earnings divided by the weighted
average number of shares outstanding.
Maple products segment Adjusted EBITDA is defined as the earnings before interest expenses,
taxes and depreciation and amortization expenses of the Maple products segment, adjusted for the
total adjustment to cost of sales relating to its segment and non-recurring expenses.
LBMT’s Adjusted EBITDA is defined as the earnings before interest expenses, taxes and
depreciation and amortization expenses associated to the LBMT acquisition on August 5, 2017,
adjusted for the total adjustment to cost of sales relating to its segment and non-recurring
expenses.
LBMT’s EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest expenses, taxes, depreciation and
amortization expenses, business combination related costs, gain on business acquisition and fair
value adjustment to purchase price allocation on inventories.
Adjusted pro forma EBITDA is defined as LBMT’s EBITDA, adjusted to include the EBITDA of
Highland and Great Northern from April 1, 2016 until their respective acquisition by LBMT and
the expected EBITDA of Sucro-Bec for the twelve-month period ended March 31, 2017, as well
as certain non-recurring operating expenses.
Adjusted pro forma EBITDA assuming the LBMT Integration Gains is defined as the adjusted
pro forma EBITDA, adjusted to include any recent customer gains, procurement efficiencies,
redistribution of production lines, reduction of maple syrup losses and previous integration of
acquired businesses.
Adjusted pro forma EBITDA assuming the LBMT Integration Gains and the RSI Integration
Gains is defined as the adjusted pro forma EBITDA assuming the LBMT Integration Gains,
adjusted to include business efficiencies, including procurement cost reductions and Operational
Excellence, and customer gains, as a result of the Rogers integration.
Decacer’s pro forma Adjusted EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest expenses, taxes,
depreciation and amortization expense for the twelve-month period ended March 31, 2017,
adjusted to take into account non-recurring items identified by the Decacer Management, nonrecurring items identified by the Company during the course of its due diligence and estimated
adjustments required to reflect the going-forward EBITDA run-rate.
Free cash flow is defined as cash flow from operations excluding changes in non-cash working
capital, mark-to-market and derivative timing adjustments, amortization of transitional balances,
financial instruments non-cash amount, and includes funds received or paid from the issue or
purchase of shares, deferred financing charges paid and capital expenditures, net of operational
excellence capital expenditures.

In the MD&A, we discuss the non-GAAP financial measures, including the reasons why we believe these
measures provide useful information regarding the financial condition, results of operations, cash flows
and financial position, as applicable. We also discuss, to the extent material, the additional purposes, if
any, for which these measures are used. These non-GAAP measures should not be considered in
isolation, or as a substitute for, analysis of the Company’s results as reported under GAAP.
Reconciliations of non-GAAP financial measures to the most directly comparable IFRS financial
measures are also contained in this MD&A.
Interim Report for the First Quarter 2018 Results

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

Page 3

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This report contains Statements or information that are or may be “forward-looking statements” or
“forward-looking information” within the meaning of applicable Canadian securities laws. Forwardlooking statements may include, without limitation, statements and information which reflect the current
expectations of Rogers, Lantic, LBMT and Decacer (together all referred to as “the Company”) with
respect to future events and performance. Wherever used, the words “may,” “will,” “should,”
“anticipate,” “intend,” “assume,” “expect,” “plan,” “believe,” “estimate,” and similar expressions and the
negative of such expressions, identify forward-looking statements. Although this is not an exhaustive list,
the Company cautions investors that statements concerning the following subjects are, or are likely to be,
forward-looking statements: future prices of raw sugar, natural gas costs, the opening of special refined
sugar quotas in the United States (“U.S.”), beet production forecasts, growth of the maple syrup industry,
anticipated benefit of the LBMT and Decacer acquisitions (including expected adjusted EBITDA), the
status of labour contracts and negotiations, the level of future dividends and the status of government
regulations and investigations. Forward-looking statements are based on estimates and assumptions made
by the Company in light of its experience and perception of historical trends, current conditions and
expected future developments, as well as other factors that the Company believes are appropriate and
reasonable in the circumstances, but there can be no assurance that such estimates and assumptions will
prove to be correct. Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and
other factors that may cause actual results or events to differ materially from those anticipated in such
forward-looking statements. Actual performance or results could differ materially from those reflected in
the forward-looking statements, historical results or current expectations. These risks are referred to in
the Company’s Annual Information Form in the “Risk Factors” section and include, without limitation:
the risks related to the Company’s dependence on the operations and assets of Lantic, the risks related to
government regulations and foreign trade policies, the risks related to competition faced by Lantic, the
risks related to fluctuations in margins, foreign exchange and raw sugar prices, the risks related to security
of raw sugar supply, the risk related to weather conditions affecting sugar beets, the risks relating to
fluctuation in energy costs, the risks that LBMT and Decacer’s historical financial information may not be
representative of future performance, the risk that following the acquisition of LBMT on August 5, 2017
and Decacer on November 18, 2017 (the “Acquisitions”), Rogers and Lantic may not be able to
successfully integrate LBMT and Decacer’s businesses with their current business and achieve the
anticipated benefits of the Acquisitions, the risks of unexpected costs or liabilities related to the
Acquisitions, including that the Representation and Warranty Insurance (“RWI”) Policy may not be
sufficient to cover such costs or liabilities or that the Company may not be able to recover such costs or
liabilities from the shareholders of LBMT and Decacer, the risks related to the regulatory regime
governing the purchase and sale of maple syrup in Québec, including the risk that LBMT and Decacer
may not be able to maintain their authorized buyer status with the Federation des Producteurs Acéricoles
du Québec (“FPAQ”) and the risk that it may not be able to purchase maple syrup in sufficient quantities,
the risk related to the production of maple syrup being seasonal and subject to climate change, the risk
related to customer concentration and LBMT and Decacer’s reliance on private label customers, the risks
related to consumer habits and the risk related to LBMT and Decacer’s business growth, substantially
relying on exports.
Although the Company believes that the expectations and assumptions on which forward-looking
information is based are reasonable under the current circumstances, readers are cautioned not to rely
unduly on this forward-looking information as no assurance can be given that it will prove to be correct.
Forward-looking information contained herein is made as at the date of this MD&A and the Company
does not undertake any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking information, whether as a
result of events or circumstances occurring after the date hereof, unless so required by law. As of the date
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of this MD&A, Management does not expect LBMT’s Adjusted EBITDA to vary significantly, although
it could be slightly lower than anticipated. Integration gains related to internal operational synergies have
been revalidated and are expected to be well established in the second half of the fiscal year but are
slightly delayed from our original targets. Anticipated commercial gains have been generally positive but
some evidence of more competitive responses to new market growth has developed.
FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION IN THIS MD&A
The following table outlines the forward-looking information contained in this MD&A, which the
Corporation considers important to better inform readers about its potential financial performance,
together with the principal assumptions used to derive this information and the principal risks and
uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from this information.
Principal Assumptions
Principal Risks and Uncertainties
Expected adjusted EBITDA for LBMT
The expected adjusted EBITDA is the expected earnings
before

interest

expenses,

taxes,

depreciation



amounts may not be representative of future results.

and

amortization expense for a twelve-month period, adjusted
for one-time costs and including the integration gains. The
Corporation estimates annual operating earnings by



Variability in LBMT’s performance.



Unexpected administration, selling or distribution
expenditures.

subtracting from the estimated revenues, the estimated
annual operating costs, from which it subtracts estimated



general and administrative expenses. The integration gains
include LBMT for fiscal 2018 and RSI integration gains
for fiscal 2019. LBMT integration gains are estimated

Historical financial information used to estimate

Uncertainty of successful integration and operational
gains.



Other risks relating to the business of LBMT (refer to

gains resulting from the three acquisitions completed by

the “Risk Factors” section of the MD&A for the year

LBMT since February 2, 2016 and which include customer

ended September 30, 2017).

gains,

procurement

efficiencies,

redistribution

of

production lines, reduction of maple syrup losses and
previous

integration

of

acquired

businesses.

RSI

integration gains are estimated operational gains resulting
from the combination of the Corporation and LBMT which
include business efficiencies and customer gains.
Expected Adjusted pro forma EBITDA for Decacer
Decacer’s Adjusted pro forma EBITDA is the expected



amortization expense for a twelve-month period, adjusted
to take into account non-recurring items identified by
Decacer Management, non-recurring items identified by



Variability in Decacer’s performance.



Unexpected administration, selling or distribution
expenditures.

the Company during the course of its due diligence and
estimated adjustments required to reflect the going-forward
EBITDA run-rate.
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Historical financial information used may not be
representative of future results.

earnings before interest expenses, taxes, depreciation and



Uncertainty of successful integration and operational
gains.
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INTERNAL DISCLOSURE CONTROLS
In accordance with Regulation 52-109 respecting certification of disclosure in issuers’ interim filings, the
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have designed or caused it to be designed under their
supervision, disclosure controls and procedures (“DC&P”).
In addition, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have designed or caused it to be
designed under their supervision internal controls over financial reporting (“ICFR”) to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes.
The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have evaluated whether or not there were any
changes to the Company’s ICFR during the three month period ended December 30, 2017 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s ICFR. No such changes
were identified through their evaluation.
LIMITATION ON SCOPE OF DESIGN
The Company has limited the scope of its DC&P and ICFR to exclude controls, policies and procedures
of LBMT and its subsidiaries, including Decacer, acquired not more than 365 days before the last day of
the period covered by the annual filing. The Company elected to exclude it from the scope of
certification as allowed by NI 52-109. The Company intends to perform such testing within one year of
acquisition.
The chart below presents the summary financial information included in the Corporation’s unaudited
condensed consolidated interim financial statements for the excluded business:
(In thousands of dollars, unaudited)

LMBT & Decacer
$

Statement of Financial Position
Total assets

264,728

Statement of Comprehensive Income
Total revenue
Results from operating activities
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SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following is a summary of selected financial information of Rogers’ unaudited condensed
consolidated interim results for the first quarters of fiscal 2018 and 2017.
(In thousands of dollars, except volume and per

First Quarter

share information)

2018

2017

174,144

168,376

11,191

n/a

Total volume
Sugar (metric tonnes)
Maple syrup (‘000 pounds)
Total revenues

$

204,883

$

159,604

Gross margin

43,113

28,176

Results from operating activities (“EBIT”)

31,685

20,596

Net finance costs

4,004

2,305

Income tax expense

7,465

4,739

20,216

13,552

Basic

0.19

0.14

Diluted

0.18

0.14

Net earnings
Net earnings per share:

Dividends per share

$

0.09

$

0.09

Consolidated results of operations
Aligned with our strategic priorities, Rogers targeted acquisition of new businesses during the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2017 and the first quarter of fiscal 2018. The culmination of efforts resulted in the
acquisition of LBMT on August 5, 2017 for approximately $160.3 million, subject to closing adjustments
of approximately $6.1 million and Decacer on November 18, 2017 for approximately $40.0 million,
subject to closing adjustments of approximately $3.0 million. This new platform will provide the
Company with opportunities to grow organically, leverage sales and administrative synergies, and build
our leadership position in maple syrup by leveraging our existing footprint and to a lesser extent,
investigate potential opportunistic acquisitions in that segment. Results from the LBMT and Decacer
operations are included in the unaudited consolidated interim results of operations since their acquisition
date. As a result of the acquisition, Rogers now has the following two operating segments: Sugar and
Maple products.
Total revenues
Revenues for the current quarter amounted to $204.9 million, an increase of $45.3 million versus the
comparable quarter last year. The improvement is mainly attributable to $49.1 million of revenues
generated by LBMT and Decacer in the first quarter of fiscal 2018, slightly offset by lower sugar selling
values.
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Gross margin

Gross margin of $43.1 million for the quarter does not reflect the economic margin of the Company, as it
includes a gain of $5.8 million for the mark-to-market of derivative financial instruments as explained
below (See “Adjusted results” section). In fiscal 2017, a mark-to-market loss of $0.9 million was
recorded for the first quarter resulting in a gross margin of $28.2 million for the period.
Results from operating activities (“EBIT”)
EBIT is defined as earnings before interest and taxes. For the first quarter of fiscal 2018, EBIT amounted
to $31.7 million compared to $20.6 million last year. The Maple product segment contributed $3.0
million of the increase in EBIT. In addition, as mentioned above, the gross margin does not reflect the
economic results from operating activities which had a positive impact of $6.7 million for the quarterover-quarter variation in mark-to-market of derivative financial instruments.
Net finance costs
Net finance costs consisted of interest paid under the revolving credit facility, as well as interest expense
on the convertible unsecured subordinated debentures and other interest. It also includes a mark-tomarket gain or loss on the interest swap agreements.
The net finance costs breakdown is as follows:
(In thousands of dollars)

First Quarter
2017

2018
Interest expense on convertible unsecured subordinated debentures

$

Interest on revolving credit facility

1,698

$

1,586

1,426

628

Amortization of deferred financing fees

249

206

Other interest expense

766

-

(135)

(115)

Net change in fair value of interest rate swap agreements
Net finance costs

$

4,004

$

2,305

The Decacer acquisition was funded by a drawdown under the revolving credit facility.
The interest expense on the convertible unsecured subordinated debentures increased by approximately
$0.1 million for the current quarter, when compared to the same period last year. The additional interest
expense is mostly explained by an increase in accretion expense on the equity component of the
convertible unsecured subordinated debentures.
The increase in interest on the revolving credit facility is explained by the additional drawdowns as a
result of the LBMT and Decacer acquisitions as well as the additional drawdown to repay the Fourth
series debentures on May 1, 2017. The increase in interest rates also had a negative impact when
compared to the same period last year.
The other interest expense pertains mainly to interest payable to the FPAQ on syrup purchases, in
accordance with its payment terms, which will tend to be higher between July and February of each year.
Starting on October 2, 2016, interest rate swap agreements were designated as effective cash flow
hedging instruments and as a result, mark-to-market adjustments are now recorded in other
comprehensive income. The transitional balances, representing the mark-to-market value recorded as of
October 1, 2016, will be subsequently removed from other comprehensive income when each of the fixed
interest rate tranches will be liquidated, in other words, when the fixed interest rate is paid. As a result,
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the Company removed a gain of $0.1 million from other comprehensive income and recorded a gain of
the same amount in net finance costs for the current quarter and the comparative period. The transitional
balance relating to interest rate swap agreements will be fully depleted in fiscal 2020. See “Adjusted
results” section.
Taxation
The income tax expense is as follows:
(In thousands of dollars)

First Quarter
2017

2018
Current

$

Deferred
Income tax expense

5,761

$

894

1,704
$

7,465

3,845

$

4,739

The variation in current and deferred tax expense quarter-over-quarter is consistent with the increase in
earnings before income taxes in fiscal 2018.
Deferred income taxes reflect temporary differences, which result primarily from the difference between
depreciation claimed for tax purposes and depreciation amounts recognized for financial reporting
purposes, employee future benefits and derivative financial instruments. Deferred income tax assets and
liabilities are measured using the enacted or substantively enacted tax rates anticipated to apply to income
in the years in which temporary differences are expected to be realized or reversed. The effect of a
change in income tax rates on future income taxes is recognized in income in the period in which the
change occurs.
Net earnings
Net earnings for the first quarter of fiscal 2018 were $20.2 million compared to $13.6 million for fiscal
2017. The improvement in net earnings is mostly explained by the after tax impact of the increase in
gross margin of the Sugar segment, mostly attributed to the mark-to-market of derivative financial
instruments, as well as the net earnings of the Maple product segment, excluding the interest on intercompany debt. The positive net earnings variance was somewhat offset by $1.7 million and $0.7 million
in additional finance costs and in acquisition costs, respectively.
Adjusted results
In the normal course of business, the Company uses derivative financial instruments consisting of sugar
futures, foreign exchange forward contracts, natural gas futures and interest rate swaps. For fiscal 2016
and prior years, all derivative financial instruments were marked-to-market at each reporting date, with
the unrealized gains/losses charged to the consolidated statement of earnings. As of October 2, 2016, the
Company adopted all the requirements of IFRS 9 (2014) Financial Instruments. As a result, the Company
has designated as effective hedging instruments its natural gas futures and its interest rate swap
agreements entered into in order to protect itself against natural gas prices and interest rate fluctuations as
cash flow hedges. Derivative financial instruments pertaining to sugar futures and foreign exchange
forward contracts continue to be marked-to-market at each reporting date and are charged to the
consolidated statement of earnings. In addition, the derivative financial instruments pertaining to foreign
exchange forward contracts on maple syrup sales were marked-to-market as at December 30, 2017 and
also charged to the consolidated statement of earnings. The unrealized gains/losses related to natural gas
futures and interest rate swaps are accounted for in other comprehensive income. The amount recognized
in other comprehensive income is removed and included in net earnings under the same line item in the
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consolidated statement of earnings and comprehensive income as the hedged item, in the same period that
the hedged cash flows affect net earnings, reducing earnings volatility related to the movements of the
valuation of these derivatives hedging instruments. The transitional marked-to-market balances
outstanding as of October 1, 2016 will be amortized over time based on their settlements until all existing
natural gas futures and all existing interest rate swaps agreements have expired.
The Company sells refined sugar to some clients in U.S. dollars. Prior to October 1, 2016, these sales
contracts were viewed as having an embedded derivative if the functional currency of the customer was
not U.S. dollars, the embedded derivative being the source currency of the transaction. The embedded
derivatives were marked-to-market at each reporting date, with the unrealized gains/losses charged to the
unaudited condensed consolidated interim statement of earnings with a corresponding offsetting amount
charged to the unaudited condensed consolidated statement of financial position. As of October 2, 2016,
the U.S. dollars of these sales contract will no longer be considered as being an embedded derivative as it
was determined that the U.S. dollar is commonly used in Canada. This change in estimate will be applied
prospectively, as a result, only the embedded derivatives relating to sales contracts outstanding as of
October 1, 2016 will continue to be marked-to-market every quarter until all the volume on these
contracts has been delivered.
Management believes that the Company’s financial results are more meaningful to management,
investors, analysts and any other interested parties when financial results are adjusted by the gains/losses
from financial derivative instruments and from embedded derivatives. These adjusted financial results
provide a more complete understanding of factors and trends affecting our business. This measurement is
a non-GAAP measurement. See “Non-GAAP measures” section.
Management uses the non-GAAP adjusted results of the operating company to measure and to evaluate
the performance of the business through its adjusted gross margin, adjusted EBIT and adjusted net
earnings. In addition, management believes that these measures are important to our investors and parties
evaluating our performance and comparing such performance to past results. Management also uses
adjusted gross margin, adjusted EBIT and adjusted net earnings when discussing results with the Board of
Directors, analysts, investors, banks and other interested parties. See “Non-GAAP measures” section.
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The results of operations would therefore need to be adjusted by the following:

First Quarter

Income (loss)
(In thousands of dollars)

2017

2018

Mark-to-market on:
Sugar futures contracts

$

Foreign exchange forward contracts
Embedded derivatives
Total mark-to-market adjustment on derivatives

$

1,231

$

(4,594)

1,333

(1,113)

51

722

2,615

$

(4,985)

Cumulative timing differences

2,312

3,198

Adjustment to cost of sales

4,927

(1,787)

883

848

Amortization of transitional balance to cost of sales for cash flow
hedges
Total adjustment to costs of sales (1)
(1)

$

5,810

$

(939)

See “Non-GAAP measures” section.

The fluctuations in mark-to-market adjustment on derivatives are due to the price movements in #11
world raw sugar and foreign exchange movements. See “Non-GAAP measures” section.
Cumulative timing differences, as a result of mark-to-market gains or losses, are recognized by the
Company only when sugar is sold to a customer. The gains or losses on sugar and related foreign
exchange paper transactions are largely offset by corresponding gains or losses from the physical
transactions, namely sale and purchase contracts with customers and suppliers. See “Non-GAAP
measures” section.
As previously mentioned, starting on October 2, 2016, natural gas futures were designated as an effective
cash flow hedging instrument and as a result, mark-to-market adjustments are now recorded in other
comprehensive income. The transitional balances, representing the mark-to-market value recorded as of
October 1, 2016, will be subsequently removed from other comprehensive income when the natural gas
futures will be liquidated, in other words, when the natural gas is used. As a result, in the first quarter of
fiscal 2018, the Company removed a gain of $0.9 million from other comprehensive income and recorded
a gain of the same amount in cost of sales. The transitional balance relating to natural gas futures will be
fully depleted in fiscal 2020. See “Non-GAAP measures” section.
The above described adjustments are added or deducted to the mark-to-market results to arrive at the total
adjustment to cost of sales. For the first quarter of the current year, the total cost of sales adjustment is a
gain of $5.8 million to be deducted from the unaudited condensed consolidated interim operating results
versus a loss of $0.9 million to be added to the unaudited condensed consolidated interim results for the
comparable quarter last year. See “Non-GAAP measures” section.
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The following is a table showing the adjusted unaudited condensed consolidated interim results (nonGAAP) without the above mark-to-market results:
First Quarter

Consolidated results
(In thousands of dollars, except per share information)

Gross margin as per financial statements

$

Adjustment as per above
Amortization of transitional balance to cost of sales as per above
Adjusted gross margin (1)
EBIT as per financial statements

2017

2018

$

Adjustment as per above

43,113

$

28,176

(4,927)

1,787

(883)

(848)

37,303

29,115

31,685

$

20,596

(4,927)

1,787

(883)

(848)

Adjusted EBIT (1)

25,875

21,535

Net earnings as per financial statements

20,216

13,552

Adjustment to cost of sales as per above

(4,927)

1,787

Amortization of transitional balance to cost of sales as per above

(883)

(848)

Amortization of transitional balance to net finance costs

(135)

(115)

Income taxes on above adjustments

1,577

(258)

15,848

14,118

0.19

0.14

(0.04)

(0.01)

Amortization of transitional balance to cost of sales as per above

Adjusted net earnings (1)
Net earnings per share basic, as per financial statements
Adjustment for the above
Adjusted net earnings per share basic (1)
(1)

$

0.15

$

0.15

See “Non-GAAP measures” section.

Adjusted gross margin
Adjusted gross margin for the quarter was $37.3 million versus $29.1 million for the comparable period
last year. During the current quarter, LBMT and Decacer contributed $6.1 million of adjusted gross
margin. The remainder of the positive adjusted gross margin variation is attributable to the Sugar
segment and is explained later in the segmented information section.
Results from operating activities
Adjusted EBIT for the first quarter of fiscal 2018 was $25.9 million compared to $21.5 million, an
increase of $4.4 million. The increase in adjusted gross margin of $8.2 million was partly offset by
higher administration and selling expenses as well as distribution costs when compared to the comparable
period, due mainly to LBMT and Decacer’s administrative and selling expenses and distribution costs of
$4.0 million for the quarter. Included in the current quarter’s administrative and selling expenses of the
Maple product segment is $0.7 million in acquisition costs incurred related to Decacer. Without the
acquisition costs, adjusted EBIT was $26.6 million, an increase of $5.1 million versus the comparable
period last year.
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Segmented information

Following the acquisition of LBMT and Decacer, the Company has two distinct segments, namely,
refined sugar and by-products, together referred to as the “Sugar” segment and maple syrup and derived
products, together referred to as the “Maple products” segment.
The following is a table showing the key results by segments:

First Quarter

Consolidated results
(In thousands of dollars, except volume)

Sugar

Maple

Total

Products
Fiscal 2018
Revenues

$

155,764

Gross margin

$

49,119

$

204,883

36,027

7,086

43,113

Administration and selling expenses

4,987

3,200

8,187

Distribution costs

2,396

845

3,241

28,644

3,041

31,685

Total adjustment to the cost of sales (1)

(4,823)

(987)

(5,810)

Adjusted Gross Margin (1)

31,204

6,099

37,303

Results from operating activities
Non- GAAP results:

Adjusted results from operating activities (1)

$

23,821

$

2,054

$

25,875

$

4,242

$

164

$

4,406

$

159,604

$

-

$

159,604

Additional information:
Addition to property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets
Fiscal 2017
Revenues
Gross margin

28,176

-

28,176

Administration and selling expenses

5,290

-

5,290

Distribution costs

2,290

-

2,290

20,596

-

20,596

939

-

939

29,115

-

29,115

Results from operating activities
Non- GAAP results:
Total adjustment to the cost of sales (1)
Adjusted Gross Margin (1)
Adjusted results from operating activities (1)

$

21,535

$

-

$

21,535

$

2,373

$

-

$

2,373

Additional information:
Addition to property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets
(1)

See “Non-GAAP measures” section.
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Results from operation by segment
Sugar
Revenues
(In thousands of dollars, except volume)

First Quarter

Volume (MT)
Revenues

$

2018

2017

174,144

168,376

155,764

$

159,604

The industrial market segment decreased by approximately 1,000 metric tonnes for the quarter, mostly
due to timing in sugar deliveries, while the consumer volume increased for the current quarter by
approximately 300 metric tonnes compared to the same period last year. Liquid volume ended the period
at approximately 3,800 metric tonnes higher than the first quarter of last year. The increase is explained
by additional demand from existing customers and liquid sugar deliveries of a high fructose corn syrup
(“HFCS”) substitutable customer in Western Canada for the full quarter of fiscal 2018 as opposed to two
months in the first quarter of fiscal 2017. . Exports increased by approximately 2,700 metric tonnes for
the current quarter due to timing in deliveries of the Canada specific U.S. quota and Mexico sales, as well
as additional U.S. high tier opportunistic sales versus the comparative period last year.
The decrease in revenues for the first quarter of fiscal 2018 versus the comparable period last year is
mainly explained by a decrease in the weighted average raw sugar values in Canadian dollars, since the
cost of raw sugar for all domestic sales is passed on to the Company’s customers.
Gross Margin
Two major factors impact gross margins: the selling margin of the products and operating costs.
(In thousands of dollars, except per metric tonne information)

First Quarter
2017

2018
Gross margin

$

Total adjustment to cost of sales (1) (2)

36,027

$

28,176
939

(4,823)

Adjusted gross margin

$

31,204

$

29,115

Gross margin per metric tonne

$

206.88

$

167.34

Adjusted gross margin per metric tonne

$

179.19

$

172.92

(1)

See “Non-GAAP measures” section.

(2)

See “Adjusted results” within the unaudited condensed consolidated interim results of operation section and “Segmented information” section.

Gross margin of $36.0 million for the quarter does not reflect the economic margin of the sugar segment,
as it includes a gain of $4.8 million for the mark-to-market of derivative financial instruments as
explained above. In fiscal 2017, a mark-to-market loss of $0.9 million was recorded for the first quarter
resulting in gross margins of $28.2 million.
We will therefore comment on adjusted gross margin results.
Adjusted gross margin for the quarter was $31.2 million compared to $29.1 million for the same quarter
last year, representing an increase of $2.1 million. Included in adjusted gross margin is a non-cash
pension plan income of $1.5 million recorded as a result of the approval by the Alberta Treasury Board
and Finance of an amendment to the Alberta hourly pension plan. Excluding this non-cash income,
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adjusted gross margin was $29.7 million or $0.6 million higher than last year, mostly due to higher sales
volume, somewhat offset by additional operating expenses, such as higher energy costs associated to the
new carbon tax in Alberta, higher maintenance costs, due to timing and to consulting fees incurred
relating to air emission reduction initiatives in Taber. Adjusted gross margin rate was $179.19 per metric
tonne or $170.70 per metric tonne, when excluding the non-cash pension plan income of $8.49 per metric
tonne, and as a result, adjusted gross margin decreased by $2.22 per metric tonne versus the first quarter
of fiscal 2017. The decrease is due mainly to the additional operating expenses explained above.
Included in gross margin and adjusted gross margin is $3.1 million of depreciation expense in cost of
sales for the first quarter, which is comparable to the comparable period last year.
Other expenses
(In thousands of dollars)

First Quarter
2017

2018
Administration and selling expenses

$

4,987

$

5,290

Distribution costs

$

2,396

$

2,290

Administration and selling expenses for the first quarter of fiscal 2018 were $0.3 million lower than the
comparable period last year mostly explained by a reduction in employee benefits.
Distribution costs for the quarter were approximately $0.1 million higher than last year.
Results from operating activities
(In thousands of dollars)

First Quarter
2017

2018
Results from operating activities

$

28,644

$

20,596

Adjusted results from operating activities

$

23,821

$

21,535

The results from operating activities for the first quarter of fiscal 2018 of $28.6 million do not reflect the
adjusted results from operating activities of the Company, as they include gains and losses from the markto-market of derivative financial instruments, as well as timing differences in the recognition of any gains
and losses on the liquidation of derivative instruments. We will therefore comment on adjusted results
from operating activities.
Adjusted results from operating activities for the first quarter of $23.8 million were $2.3 million higher
than the comparable period year. The increase is mainly due to the non-cash pension plan income, higher
sales volume and lower administrative and selling expenses, somewhat offset by additional operating
expenses, mainly in Taber, as explained above.

Interim Report for the First Quarter 2018 Results

Page 15

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
Maple products
Revenues
(In thousands of dollars and volume, in thousands of

First Quarter

pounds)

Volume (pounds)
Revenues

$

2018

2017

11,191

-

49,119

$

-

Revenues for the first quarter include revenues generated by Decacer since its acquisition on November
18, 2017.
Gross Margin
Two major factors impact gross margins: the selling margin of the products and operating costs.
(In thousands of dollars, except adjusted gross margin

First Quarter

percentage information)

Gross margin

$

Total adjustment to cost of sales (1) (2)
Adjusted gross margin

2017

2018
7,086

$

-

(987)
$

6,099

-

$

-

Gross margin percentage

14.4%

-

Adjusted gross margin percentage

12.4%

-

(1)

See “Non-GAAP measures” section.

(2)

See “Adjusted results” within the unaudited condensed consolidated interim operating results section and “Segmented information” section.

Gross margin of $7.1 million for the quarter does not reflect the economic margin of the Maple products
segment, as it includes a gain of $1.0 million for the mark-to-market of derivative financial instruments
on foreign exchange contracts.
We will therefore comment on adjusted gross margin results.
Adjusted gross margin for the quarter was $6.1 million, representing an adjusted gross margin percentage
of 12.4%. However, included in cost of sales, is an amount of $0.3 million due to an increase in value of
the finished goods inventory at the date of acquisition of Decacer. Under IFRS, all inventory of finished
goods upon acquisition is valued at the estimated selling price less the sum of the costs of disposal, and a
reasonable profit allowance for the selling effort of the acquirer which results in, lower selling margins
when the acquired inventory is sold. As at December 30, 2017, there was no finished goods inventory
remaining that existed as at the acquisition date. Without this adjustment, adjusted gross margin would
have been $6.4 million or 13.0% of revenues.

Interim Report for the First Quarter 2018 Results

Page 16

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
Other expenses
(In thousands of dollars)

First Quarter
2017

2018
Administration and selling expenses

$

3,201

$

-

Distribution costs

$

845

$

-

Administration and selling expenses of $3.2 million include $0.7 million in consulting fees and other
costs incurred as a result of the acquisition of Decacer and $0.3 million in non-recurring costs
representing severance costs accrued to date.
Distribution expenses were $0.8 million for the period.
Results from operating activities
(In thousands of dollars)

First Quarter
2017

2018
Results from operating activities

$

3,041

$

-

Adjusted results from operating activities

$

2,054

$

-

The above results from operating activities reflect the earnings before interest and taxes of LBMT for the
period and Decacer since its acquisition.
Adjusted results
In the normal course of business, the Company uses derivative financial instruments consisting of foreign
exchange forward contracts, which are marked-to-market at each reporting date with the unrealized
gains/losses charge to the consolidated statement of earnings. In addition, the acquisition by LBMT of
Decacer has resulted in expenses that do not reflect the economic performance of the operation of LBMT.
Finally, certain non-cash items and non-recurring expenses also had a negative impact on the results from
operating activities. As such Management believes that the Maple products segment’s financial results
are more meaningful to management, investors, analysts, and any other interested parties when financial
results are adjusted for the above mentioned items.

Interim Report for the First Quarter 2018 Results

Page 17

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS
The results of operations would therefore need to be adjusted by the following:
(In thousands of dollars)

First Quarter
2017

2018
Results from operating activities

$

3,041

$

-

Total adjustment to cost of sales (1) (2)

(987)

-

Adjusted results from operating activities

2,054

-

Acquisition costs incurred

710

-

Other non-recurring items

254

-

261

-

923

-

Non-recurring expenses:

Finished goods valued at the estimated selling price less disposal cost as of
acquisition date
Depreciation and amortization
Maple products segment adjusted EBITDA(1) (2)

$

4,202

$

(1)

See “Non-GAAP measures” section.

(2)

See “Adjusted results” within the unaudited condensed consolidated interim operating results section and “Segmented information” section.

Other non-recurring items represent severance costs accrued to date.
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Summary of Quarterly Results

The following is a summary of selected financial information of the unaudited condensed consolidated
interim financial statements and non-GAAP measures of the Company for the last eight quarters:
(In thousands of dollars, except for volume and per share information)
QUARTERS

2017

2018

2016

First

Fourth

Third

Second

First

Fourth

Third

Second

174,144

183,397

173,969

168,723

168,376

187,179

169,481

161,638

11,191

5,764

-

-

-

-

-

-

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

Total revenues

204,883

192,984

166,363

163,566

159,604

161,733

138,600

133,988

Gross margin

43,113

22,631

9,886

16,605

28,176

32,418

36,721

20,520

EBIT

31,685

10,138

1,513

8,784

20,596

24,472

28,636

12,900

Net earnings

20,216

4,014

(448)

4,788

13,552

16,453

19,383

7,672

Gross margin rate per MT (1)

206.88

103.82

56.83

98.42

167.34

173.19

216.67

126.95

Gross margin percentage (2)

14.4%

13.5%

-

-

-

-

-

-

Basic

0.19

0.04

-

0.05

0.14

0.18

0.21

0.08

Diluted

0.18

0.04

-

0.05

0.14

0.16

0.19

0.08

Adjusted gross margin

37,303

28,034

22,843

23,267

29,115

29,615

20,356

20,366

Adjusted EBIT

25,875

15,541

14,470

15,446

21,535

21,669

12,271

12,746

15,848

7,938

9,030

9,628

14,118

14,263

7,259

7,630

179.19

134.18

131.31

137.90

172.92

158.22

120.11

126.00

12.4%

-

-

-

12.8%

-

-

-

0.15

0.08

0.10

0.10

0.15

0.15

0.08

0.08

0.14

0.08

0.10

0.10

0.14

0.14

0.08

0.08

Sugar Volume (MT)
Maple products volume (‘000 Lbs)

Per share
Net earnings

Non-GAAP Measures

Adjusted net earnings
Adjusted gross margin rate per MT

(1)

Adjusted gross margin percentage (2)
Adjusted net earnings per share
Basic
Diluted
(1)

Gross margin rate per MT and adjusted gross margin rate per MT pertains to the Sugar segment only.

(2)

Gross margin percentage and adjusted gross margin percentage pertains to the Maple products segment only
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Historically the first quarter (October to December) of the fiscal year is the best quarter of the sugar
segment for adjusted gross margins and adjusted net earnings due to the favourable sales mix associated
with an increased proportion of consumer sales during that period of the year. At the same time, the
second quarter (January to March) historically has the lowest volume as well as an unfavourable customer
mix, resulting in lower revenues, adjusted gross margins and adjusted net earnings.
The increase in revenues for the first quarter of fiscal 2018 and the fourth quarter of fiscal 2017 is
explained by the benefit from the LBMT acquisition on August 5, 2017 and Decacer’s acquisition on
November 18, 2017. The timing of both acquisitions also had an impact on the maple product volume.
Liquidity
Cash flow generated by Lantic is paid to Rogers by way of dividends and return of capital on the common
shares and by the payment of interest on the subordinated notes of Lantic held by Rogers, after taking a
reasonable reserve for capital expenditures, debt reimbursement and working capital. The cash received
by Rogers is used to pay administrative expenses, interest on the convertible debentures, income taxes
and dividends to its shareholders. Lantic had no restrictions on distributions of cash arising from the
compliance of financial covenants for the year.
2018

2017

$ (10,762)

$ (19,296)

47,861

21,981

(45,116)

(1,297)

68

-

(In thousands of dollars)

Net cash flow used in operating activities
Cash flow from financing activities
Cash flow used in investing activities
Effect of changes in exchange rate on cash
Net (decrease) increase in cash

$

(7,949)

$

1,388

Cash flow from operating activities was negative $10.8 million in fiscal 2018, as opposed to negative
$19.3 million in the comparable quarter of fiscal 2017. The negative variance decreased by $8.5 million
due to an increase in net earnings of $6.7 million, as well as a decrease in income taxes paid of $2.8
million and a positive non-cash working capital variation of $0.7 million. Offsetting a portion of the
positive variance is an increase in interest paid of $1.4 million and an increase in pension plan
contributions of $0.6 million. It should be noted that the acquisition of the working capital of Decacer is
shown in investing activities and therefore, only the working capital variation between the acquisition
date and December 30, 2017 is presented as part of the cash flow from operating activities.
The increase in cash flow from financing activities of $25.9 million is attributable to the increase in the
revolving credit facility of $27.5 million, slightly offset by an increase of $1.1 million in dividends paid
in the current period as compared to the comparative period due to the issuance of common shares in
fiscal 2017.
The cash outflow used in investing activities increased compared to the first quarter of fiscal 2017 by
$43.8 million due mainly to the acquisition of Decacer for $42.1 million. Also contributing to the
negative variation is greater capital spending during the current period of $1.8 million, in line with an
increase in anticipated capital spending in fiscal 2018.
In order to provide additional information, the Company believes it is appropriate to measure free cash
flow that is generated by the operations of the Company. Free cash flow is defined as cash flow from
operations excluding changes in non-cash working capital, mark-to-market and derivative timing
adjustments, amortization of transitional balances, financial instruments non-cash amount, and includes
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funds received or paid from the issue or purchase of shares, deferred financing charges paid and capital
expenditures, net of operational excellence capital expenditures.. Free cash flow is a non-GAAP measure.
Free cash flow is as follows:
(In thousands of dollars)

First Quarter
2017

2018
Cash flow used in operations

$

(10,762)

$

(19,296)

Adjustments:
Changes in non-cash working capital

31,744

32,453

Mark-to-market and derivative timing adjustments

(4,927)

1,787

Amortization of transitional balances

(1,018)

(963)

4,753

1,256

(3,055)

(1,297)

748

304

-

428

(122)

-

Financial instruments non-cash amount
Capital expenditures
Operational excellence capital expenditures
Share options exercised
Deferred financing charges
Free cash flow (1)

$

17,361

$

14,672

Declared dividends

$

9,517

$

8,460

(1)

See “Non-GAAP measures” section.

Free cash flow for the first quarter of 2018 was $17.4 million compared to $14.7 million for the same
period last year, an increase of $2.7 million. The increase is mainly explained by an increase in adjusted
EBITDA, net of the non-cash pension income (See “Non-GAAP measures” section in the MD&A) of
$3.7 million as well as a decrease in income taxes paid of $2.8 million. Offsetting a portion of the
positive variance is an increase in interest paid of $1.4 million, higher capital expenditures, net of
operational excellence capital expenditures of $1.3 million and an increase in pension plan contributions
of $0.6 million. Also, an amount of $0.4 million was received during the first quarter of fiscal 2017
following the exercise of share options by executives, compared to none in the current period. Finally,
the Company paid $0.1 million in deferred financing charges during the current quarter to amend the
revolving credit facility.
Capital expenditures, net of operational excellence expenditures, were slightly higher in fiscal 2018, in
line with an increase in anticipated capital spending in fiscal 2018. Operational excellence capital
expenditures are $0.4 million higher for the quarter when compared to the same period of last fiscal year.
Free cash flow is not reduced by operational excellence capital expenditures, as these projects are not
necessary for the operation of the plants, but are undertaken because of the substantial operational savings
that are realized once the projects are completed.
Financing charges are paid when a new debt financing is completed and such charges are deferred and
amortized over the term of that debt. The cash used in the year to pay for such fees is therefore not
available and as a result is deducted from free cash flow.
The Company declared a quarterly dividend of 9.0 cents per common share, for a total amount of
approximately $9.5 million for the current quarter, compared to $8.5 million in the comparable period.
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The increase is due to the issuance of common shares pursuant to the offering made under a short term
prospectus in July 2017.
Changes in non-cash operating working capital represent year-over-year movements in current assets,
such as accounts receivable and inventories, and current liabilities, such as accounts payables.
Movements in these accounts are due mainly to timing in the collection of receivables, receipts of raw
sugar and payment of liabilities. Increases or decreases in such accounts are due to timing issues and
therefore do not constitute free cash flow. Such increases or decreases are financed from available cash
or from the Company’s available credit facility of $315.0 million. Increases or decreases in bank
indebtedness are also due to timing issues from the above and therefore do not constitute available free
cash flow.
The combined impact of the mark-to-market and financial instruments non-cash amount of $1.2 million
for the current quarter do not represent cash items as these contracts will be settled when the physical
transactions occur, which is the reason for the adjustment to free cash flow.
Contractual obligations:
There are no significant changes in the contractual obligations table disclosed in the Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of the September 30, 2017 Annual Report.
Capital resources:
On December 20, 2017, the Company amended its existing revolving credit facility thereby increasing its
available credit by $40.0 million by drawing additional funds under the accordion feature embedded in
the revolving credit facility (“Additional Accordion Borrowings”). As a result of the amended revolving
credit facility and the Additional Accordion Borrowings, the Company has a total of $315.0 million of
available working capital from which it can borrow at prime rate, LIBOR rate or under bankers’
acceptances, plus 20 to 250 basis points, based on achieving certain financial ratios. Certain assets of the
Company, including trade receivables, inventories and property, plant and equipment, have been pledged
as security for the revolving credit facility, including some of the assets of LBMT. The maturity date of
the amended revolving credit facility is June 28, 2022.
At December 30, 2017, $227.5 million had been drawn from the working capital facility and $9.1 million
in cash was also available.
Cash requirements for working capital and other capital expenditures are expected to be paid from
available cash resources and funds generated from operations. Management believes that the unused
credit under the revolving facility is adequate to meet any future cash requirements.
OUTSTANDING SECURITIES
A total of 105,743,582 shares were outstanding as at December 30, 2017 and February 1, 2018.
On December 4, 2017, a total of 1,065,322 share options were granted at a price of $6.23 per common
share to certain executives and senior managers. Last year, on December 5, 2016, the Company granted a
total of 360,000 share options to certain executives at an exercise price of $6.51. These options are
exercisable to a maximum of twenty percent per year, starting after the first anniversary date of the
granting of the options and will expire after a term of ten years. Upon termination, resignation,
retirement, death or long-term disability, all shares granted under the Share Option Plan not vested are
forfeited.
In addition, during the quarter, a Performance Share Unit plan (“PSU”) was created and on December 4,
2017, a total of 224,761 PSUs were granted to executives. These PSUs will vest at the end of the 2017Interim Report for the First Quarter 2018 Results
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2020 Performance Cycle based on the achievement of total shareholder returns set by the Human
Resources and Compensation Committee (“HRCC”) and the Board of Directors of the Company. The
value to be paid-out to each participant will be equal to the result of: the number of PSUs granted to the
participant which have vested, multiplied by the volume weighted average closing price of the Common
Shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange (the “TSX”) for the five trading days immediately preceding the
day on which the Company shall pay the value to the participant under the PSU Plan.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
There were no significant changes in the critical estimate and accounting policies disclosed in the
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of the September 30, 2017 Annual Report, except as follows:
 Employee benefits:


Cash-settled performance share units:
During the quarter, the Company implemented a Performance Share Units plan (“PSUs”) entitling
executives to a cash payment. A liability is recognized for the services acquired and is recorded
at fair value based on the share price of the Company’s Common Shares in payables with a
corresponding expense recognized in administration and selling expenses. The amount
recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of units for which the related service
and performance conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognized as
an expense is based on the units of awards that meet the related service and non-market
performance conditions at the vesting date. At the end of each reporting period until the liability
is settled, the fair value of the liability is re-measured, with any changes in fair value recognized
in the consolidated statement of earnings of the period.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The significant accounting policies as disclosed in the Company’s audited annual consolidated financial
statements for the year ended September 30, 2017 have been applied consistently in the preparation of
these unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements except as noted below:
 IAS 7, Disclosure Initiative:
On January 7, 2016 the IASB issued Disclosure Initiative (amendments to IAS 7). The amendments
apply prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017. Earlier application is
permitted.
The amendments require disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in
liabilities arising from financing activities, includes both changes arising from cash flow and non-cash
changes. One way to meet this new disclosure requirement is to provide a reconciliation between the
opening and closing balances for liabilities from financing activities.
The Company adopted the amendments to IAS 7 in its consolidated financial statements for the annual
period beginning on October 1, 2017. The adoption of the standard did not have an impact on the
consolidated interim financial statements.
 IAS 12, Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealized Losses:
On January 19, 2016 the IASB issued Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealized Losses
(Amendments to IAS 12). The amendments apply retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2017. Earlier application is permitted.
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The amendments clarify that the existence of a deductible temporary difference depends solely on a
comparison of the carrying amount of an asset and its tax base at the end of the reporting period, and is
not affected by possible future changes in the carrying amount or expected manner of recovery of the
asset. The amendments also clarify the methodology to determine the future taxable profits used for
assessing the utilization of deductible temporary differences.
The Company adopted the amendments to IAS 12 in its consolidated interim financial statements for
the annual period beginning on October 1, 2017. The adoption of the amendments did not have an
impact on the consolidated interim financial statements.
 Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards (2014-2016) Cycle:
On December 8, 2016 the IASB issued narrow-scope amendments to three standards as part of its
annual improvements process. Each of the amendments has its own specific transition requirements
and effective date.
Amendments were made to the following standard:


Clarification that IFRS 12, Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities also applies to interests that
are classified as held for sale, held for distribution, or discontinued operations, effective
retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017.

The Company adopted the amendment in its consolidated interim financial statements for the annual
period beginning October 1, 2017. The adoption of the amendments did not have an impact on the
consolidated interim financial statements.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND PRACTICES NOT YET ADOPTED
A number of new standards, and amendments to standards and interpretations, are not yet effective and
have not been applied in preparing these unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements.
New standards and amendments to standards and interpretations that are currently under review include:
 IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers:
On May 28, 2014 the IASB issued IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers. IFRS 15 will
replace IAS 11 Construction Contracts, IAS 18 Revenue, IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes,
IFRIC 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18 Transfer of Assets from
Customers, and SIC 31 Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving Advertising Services. The new
standard is effective for years beginning on or after January 1, 2018. Earlier application is permitted.
The standard contains a single model that applies to contracts with customers and two approaches to
recognizing revenue: at a point in time or over time. The model features a contract-based five-step
analysis of transactions to determine whether, how much and when revenue is recognized. New
estimates and judgmental thresholds have been introduced, which may affect the amount and/or timing
of revenue recognized.
The new standard applies to contracts with customers. It does not apply to insurance contracts,
financial instruments or lease contracts, which fall in the scope of other IFRSs.
The Company intends to adopt IFRS 15 in its consolidated financial statements for the year beginning
on September 30, 2018. The extent of the impact of adoption of the standard on the consolidated
financial statements of the Company has not yet been determined.
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 IFRS 16, Leases:
On January 13, 2016 the IASB issued IFRS 16 Leases. The new standard is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. Earlier application is permitted for entities that apply
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers at or before the date of initial adoption of IFRS 16.
IFRS 16 will replace IAS 17 Leases.
This standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognize assets and
liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low
value. A lessee is required to recognize a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying
asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments.
This standard substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements of IAS 17, while
requiring enhanced disclosures to be provided by the lessors. Other areas of the lease accounting
model have been impacted, including the definition of a lease. Transitional provisions have been
provided.
The Company intends to adopt IFRS 16 in its consolidated financial statements for the annual period
beginning on September 29, 2019. The extent of the impact of adoption of the standard on the
consolidated financial statements of the Company has not yet been determined.
Additional new standards, and amendments to standards and interpretations, include: IFRS 2,
Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions, Annual Improvements to IFRS
Standards (2014-2016) Cycle and (2015-2017) Cycle, IFRIC 22, Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration and IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments. The Company intends to
adopt these new standards, and amendments to standards and interpretations, in its consolidated financial
statements in each of their respective annual period for which they become applicable. The extent of the
impact of adoption of these new standards, and amendments to standards and interpretations, has not yet
been determined. Refer to note 3 (d) to the unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial
statements for more detail.
RISK FACTORS
Risk factors in the Company’s business and operations are discussed in the Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of our Annual Report for the year ended September 30, 2017. This document is available on
SEDAR at www.sedar.com or on one of our websites at www.lantic.ca or www.rogerssugarinc.com.
OUTLOOK
In fiscal 2018, we expect the industrial market segment to decrease slightly, while the consumer volume
should be comparable to fiscal 2017.
The liquid market segment should continue to be strong, benefitting from some growth with existing
customers, the recapture of some of the volume loss in fiscal 2017 and the benefit of a full year of supply
to a large bottler account in Western Canada. As a result, we expect the liquid market segment to surpass
fiscal 2017 by approximately 10,000 metric tonnes.
As for the export segment, total volume is anticipated to increase by approximately 5,000 metric tonnes
due to additional sales to Mexico and U.S. high tier opportunistic sales.
Overall, we expect total volume to increase by approximately 10,000 metric tonnes.
In fiscal 2018, the Company will benefit from a full year of operations of LBMT. As previously
presented in the short form prospectus dated July 21, 2017, we expect LBMT’s Adjusted EBITDA (See
“Non-GAAP measures” section of the MD&A) to approximate $18.4 million, which includes an increase
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in sales volume and related selling margins in addition to some operational efficiency gains for a total of
approximately $2.9 million. Management does not expect LBMT’s Adjusted EBITDA to vary
significantly, although it could be slightly lower than anticipated. Integration gains related to internal
operational synergies have been revalidated and are expected to be well established in the second half of
the fiscal year but are slightly delayed from our original targets. Anticipated commercial gains have been
generally positive but some evidence of more competitive responses to new market growth has
developed. In addition, Management expects non-recurring expenses of approximately $1.0 million
related to severance costs. In fiscal 2019, we expect additional integration gains of approximately $2.1
million to be fully realized by the end of fiscal 2019. Therefore, fiscal 2019 Adjusted EBITDA for
LBMT should amount to approximately $20.5 million assuming the realization of all expected integration
gains.
On November 20, 2017, the Company announced the acquisition of Decacer for $40.0 million, subject to
post-closing adjustments. Decacer’s Adjusted pro forma EBITDA (See “Non-GAAP measures” section)
on an annual basis is estimated at $5.1 million. This acquisition, combined with the earlier acquisition of
LBMT, allows us to create a solid platform and to broaden the Company’s maple syrup operations and
expand its product offering, including a unique maple sugar dehydration technology as well as enhancing
the potential for additional operational synergies.
We expect energy costs to increase by approximately $1.5 million in fiscal 2018 as a result of the
implementation of the carbon tax in Alberta on January 1, 2017. The current carbon tax amounts to
$1.011 per gigajoule and will increase to $1.517 per gigajoule on January 1, 2018.
Approximately 75% of fiscal 2018’s natural gas requirements have been hedged at average prices
comparable to those realized in fiscal 2017. In addition, some futures positions for fiscal 2019 to 2022
have also been taken. Some of these positions are at prices higher than current market value, but are at
the same or better levels than those achieved in fiscal 2017. We will continue to monitor natural gas
market dynamics with the objective of maintaining competitive costs and minimizing natural gas cost
variances.
Capital expenditures for fiscal 2018 are expected to increase compared to fiscal 2017 as the Company
intends to spend approximately $6.0 million on operational excellence capital projects. The Company is
currently evaluating various scenarios in order to be fully compliant on air emission standards for the
2019 beet harvesting season and a decision is expected next quarter. To achieve this objective, the
Company expects to undertake significant capital expenditure for this project, starting in the second half
of the fiscal year. Early estimates of the net investment required to remediate the non-compliance range
between $15 million and $25 million.
The beet slicing campaign is expected to be completed in late February. We expect that the current crop
should derive approximately 125,000 metric tonnes of refined sugar.
Total pension plan expense is expected to decrease by approximately $2.4 million in fiscal 2018 as a
result of the increase in discount rates, as well as to the approval by the Alberta Treasury Board and
Finance of an amendment to the Alberta Hourly Plan.
As a result of the acquisition of LBMT and Decacer, as well as the recent increase in interest rate and
expectations of further increases by the Bank of Canada in fiscal 2018, we anticipate higher interest
expense when compared to fiscal 2017.
Labour negotiations with the Vancouver refinery unionized employees for the renewal of the labour
contract will start over the coming weeks. The collective agreement expires at the end of February.
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Unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements of

ROGERS SUGAR INC.
Three months ended December 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016
(Unaudited and not reviewed by the Company’s independent auditors)

ROGERS SUGAR INC.
(Unaudited)
Condensed consolidated interim statements of earnings and comprehensive income
(In thousands of dollars except per share amounts)
For the three months ended
December 30
December 31,
2017
2016

Condensed consolidated interim statements of earnings
Revenues (note 21)

$

204,883

$

159,604

161,770
43,113

131,428
28,176

Administration and selling expenses
Distribution expenses

8,187
3,241
11,428

5,290
2,290
7,580

Results from operating activities

31,685

20,596

(135)
4,139
4,004

(115)
2,420
2,305

27,681

18,291

5,761
1,704
7,465

3,845
894
4,739

Cost of sales
Gross margin

Finance income (note 6)
Finance costs (note 6)
Net finance costs (note 6)
Earnings before income taxes
Income tax expense:
Current
Deferred

Net earnings

$

20,216

$

13,552

Net earnings per share (note 16)
Basic
Diluted

$
$

0.19
0.18

$
$

0.14
0.14

For the three months ended
December 30,
December 31,
2017
2016

Condensed consolidated interim statements of comprehensive income
Net earnings

$

Other comprehensive (loss) income:
Items that may or may not be reclassified subsequently to net earnings:
Cash flow hedges (note 9)
Income tax on other comprehensive (loss) income (note 9)
Foreign currency translation differences

Net earnings and comprehensive income for the period

20,216

$

(367)
97
102
(168)
$

20,048

13,552

1,394
(367)
1,027
$

14,579

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated interim
financial statements.

ROGERS SUGAR INC.
(Unaudited)
Condensed consolidated interim statements of financial position
(In thousands of dollars)
December 30,
2017

September 30,
2017 *

December 31,
2016

Assets
Current assets:
Cash
Restricted cash (note 7)
Trade and other receivables
Income taxes recoverable
Inventories (note 8)
Prepaid expenses
Derivative financial instruments (note 9)
Total current assets
Non-current assets:
Restricted cash (note 7)
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Other assets (note 10)
Deferred tax assets
Derivative financial instruments (note 9)
Goodwill (note 11)
Total non-current assets
Total assets

$

$

9,084
3,348
69,316
182,544
2,168
1,447
267,907
199,850
33,324
1,037
13,947
2,432
337,911
588,501
856,408

$

$

17,033
4,201
80,107
1,174
173,129
2,892
93
278,629
631
190,875
25,374
982
15,048
2,323
320,130
555,363
833,992

$

$

2,634
50,669
134,363
1,588
919
190,173
177,780
1,830
472
17,574
879
229,952
428,487
618,660

Liabilities and Shareholder’s Equity
Current liabilities:
Revolving credit facility (note 12)
Trade and other payables
Income taxes payable
Provisions
Finance lease obligations
Derivative financial instruments (note 9)
Convertible unsecured subordinated debentures (note 14)
Current portion of other long-term liabilities (note 13)
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities:
Revolving credit facility (note 12)
Employee benefits
Provisions
Derivative financial instruments (note 9)
Finance lease obligations
Convertible unsecured subordinated debentures (note 14)
Deferred tax liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Shareholder’s equity:
Share capital (note 15)
Contributed surplus
Equity portion of convertible unsecured subordinated
debentures (note 14)
Deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Total shareholder’s equity
Total liabilities and shareholder’s equity

$

$

87,500
80,189
1,153
422
50
3,758
59,434
3,876
236,382

$

20,000
125,260
478
48
6,665
4,703
157,154

$

30,000
48,583
887
913
48
2,527
49,464
132,422

140,000
37,698
1,730
2,231
100
52,417
41,129
275,305
511,687

150,000
39,169
1,753
2,381
114
111,544
37,133
588
342,682
499,836

60,000
53,642
1,746
4,186
148
58,856
35,124
213,702
346,124

101,335
300,281

101,335
300,247

134,404
200,189

3,141

3,141

1,188

(61,161)
1,125
344,721
856,408

(71,860)
1,293
334,156
833,992

(53,778)
(9,467)
272,536
618,660

$

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated interim
financial statements.
*Includes adjustment of prior year purchase price allocation (See Note 4 and Note 11)

ROGERS SUGAR INC.
(Unaudited)
Condensed consolidated interim statements of changes in shareholders’ equity
(In thousands of dollars except number of shares)
For the three months ended December 30, 2017
Accumulated
foreign
currency
translation
differences
Deficit
Total
$
$
$
$

Accumulated
unrealized
gain on
employee
benefit plans
$

Accumulated
cash flow
hedge gain
(loss)

1,190
-

295
-

(192)
-

(71,860)
20,216
(9,517)

334,156
20,216
(9,517)

Number of
shares

Common
shares

Contributed
surplus

Equity
portion of
convertible
debentures

Balance, September 30, 2017
Net earnings for the period
Dividends (note 15)
Share-based compensation
(note 17)
Cash flow hedges, net of tax
(note 9)
Translation of foreign operations

105,743,582
-

$
101,335
-

$
300,247
-

$
3,141
-

-

-

34

-

-

-

-

-

34

-

-

-

-

-

(270)
-

102

-

(270)
102

Balance, December 30,2017

105,743,582

101,335

300,281

3,141

1,190

25

(90)

(61,161)

344,721

Accumulated
unreailzed
(loss) on
employee
benefit plans

Accumulated
cash flow
hedge gain

Deficit

Total

$
(58,870)
13,552
(8,460)

$
265,553
13,552
(8,460)

For the three months ended December 31, 2016

Number of
shares

Common
shares

Contributed
surplus

Equity portion
of convertible
debentures

Balance, October 1, 2016
Net earnings for the period
Dividends (note 15)
Share-based compensation
(note 17)
Stock options exercised
(note 17)
Conversion of convertible
debentures into common shares
(note 14)
Cash flow hedges (note 9)

93,850,160
-

$
133,528
-

$
200,201
-

$
1,188
-

(10,494)
-

$
-

-

-

11

-

-

-

-

11

80,000

451

(23)

-

-

-

-

428

65,384
-

425
-

-

-

-

1,027

-

425
1,027

Balance, December 31, 2016

93,995,544

134,404

200,189

1,188

(10,494)

1,027

(53,778)

272,536

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements.

ROGERS SUGAR INC.
(Unaudited)
Condensed consolidated interim statements of cash flows
(In thousands of dollars)
For the three months ended
December 30,
December 31,
2017
2016
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net earnings
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 5)
Amortization of intangible assets (note 5)
Changes in fair value of derivative financial instruments included in cost of sales
Income tax expense
Pension contributions
Pension expense
Net finance costs (note 6)
Share-based compensation (note 17)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Other

$

Changes in:
Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
Trade and other payables
Provisions

Cash flows used in operating activities
Interest paid
Income taxes paid
Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows (used in) from financing activities:
Dividends paid (note 15)
Increase in revolving credit facility (note 12)
Payment of financing fees (note 10)
Stock options exercised (note 17)
Cash flow from financing activities
Cash flows used in investing activities:
Business combination, net of cash acquired (note 4)
Additions to property, plant and equipment, net of
proceeds on disposal
Additions to intangible assets
Cash flow used in investing activities
Effect of changes in exchange rate on cash
Net (decrease) increase in cash
Cash, beginning of period
Cash, end of period

$

20,216

$

13,552

3,456
687
(4,753)
7,465
(1,862)
391
4,004
137
7
29,748

3,212
53
(1,256)
4,739
(1,268)
1,977
2,305
11
1
23,326

14,635
6,129
820
(53,249)
(79)
(31,744)

18,113
(53,242)
1,043
1,968
(335)
(32,453)

(1,996)

(9,127)

(5,135)
(3,631)
(10,762)

(3,738)
(6,431)
(19,296)

(9,517)
57,500
(122)
47,861

(8,447)
30,000
428
21,981

(42,061)

-

(2,955)
(100)
(45,116)
68
(7,949)
17,033
9,084

(1,297)
(1,297)
1,388
1,246
2,634

$

Supplemental cash flow information (note 18)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated interim
financial statements.

ROGERS SUGAR INC.

1

Notes to unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements
(In thousands of dollars except as noted and amounts per share)

1.

Reporting entity:
Rogers Sugar Inc. (“Rogers” or the “Company”) is a company domiciled in Canada, incorporated
under the Canada Business Corporations Act. The head office of Rogers is located at 123
Rogers Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6B 3V2. The unaudited condensed consolidated
interim financial statements of Rogers for the three months ended December 30, 2017 and
December 31, 2016 comprise Rogers and its subsidiary, Lantic Inc., (together referred to as the
“Company”). The principal business activities of the Company are the refining, packaging and
marketing of sugar and maple products.

2.

Basis of presentation and statement of compliance:
(a) Statement of compliance:
These unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting on a basis consistent with those
accounting policies followed by the Company in the most recent audited consolidated
annual financial statements other than the adoption of the amendments of IAS 7, IAS 12
and IFRS 12 as described in note 3(c). Certain information, in particular the accompanying
notes, normally included in the audited annual consolidated financial statements prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) has been omitted or condensed.
Accordingly, these unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements do not
include all the information required for full annual financial statements, and, therefore,
should be read in conjunction with the audited annual consolidated financial statements and
the notes thereto for the year ended September 30, 2017. The quarterly unaudited
condensed consolidated interim financial statements were not reviewed nor audited by our
external auditors and were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on February 1,
2018.
(b) Basis of measurement:
These unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for the following material items in the unaudited
condensed consolidated statements of financial position:
(i)

derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value;

(ii)

the defined benefit liability is recognized as the net total of the present value of the
defined benefit obligation less the total of the fair value of the plan assets and the
unrecognized past service costs; and

(iii) assets and liabilities acquired in business combinations are measured at fair value at
acquisition date.
(c) Functional and presentation currency:
These unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements are presented in
Canadian dollars since it is the Company’s functional currency. All financial information
presented in Canadian dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousands, except as noted
and per share amounts.
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Notes to unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements
(In thousands of dollars except as noted and amounts per share)

2.

Basis of presentation and statement of compliance (continued):
(d) Use of estimates and judgements:
The preparation of these unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
In preparing these unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements, the
significant judgements made by management in applying the Company’s accounting
policies and key sources of estimation of uncertainty are as those applied and described in
the Company’s audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended
September 30, 2017.

3.

Significant accounting policies:
The significant accounting policies as disclosed in the Company’s audited annual consolidated
financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2017 have been applied consistently in
the preparation of these unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements, except
as noted below:
(a) Basis of consolidation:
(i) Subsidiaries:
The consolidated financial statements include the Company and the subsidiaries it
controls, Lantic Inc. (“Lantic”) and L.B. Maple Treat Corporation (“LBMT”). LBMT is a
combination of five businesses: LBMT, Highland Sugarworks Inc. (“Highland”), Great
Northern Maple Products Inc. (“Great Northern” amalgamated with LBMT on December 1,
2016), 9020-2292 Québec Inc. (“Decacer”), and the assets of Sucro-Bec L. Fortier Inc.
(“Sucro-Bec”). Control exists where the Company is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated financial statements from the date control commences until the date that
control ceases. The accounting policies of subsidiaries are aligned with the policies
adopted by the Company.
Inter-company balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses
arising from inter-company transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.
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(In thousands of dollars except as noted and amounts per share)

3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
(b) Employee benefits:
(i) Cash-settled Performance Share Units:
During the quarter, the Company implemented a Performance Share Units plan (“PSU”)
entitling executives to a cash payment. A liability is recognized for the services acquired
and is recorded at fair value based on the share price of the Company’s Common Shares
in payables with a corresponding expense recognized in administration and selling
expenses. The amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of
units for which the related service and performance conditions are expected to be met,
such that the amount ultimately recognized as an expense is based on the units of awards
that do meet the related service and non-market performance conditions at the vesting
date. At the end of each reporting period until the liability is settled, the fair value of the
liability is remeasured, with any changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated
statement of earnings of the period.
(c)

New standards and interpretations adopted:
(i) IAS 7, Disclosure Initiative
On January 7, 2016 the IASB issued Disclosure Initiative (amendments to IAS 7). The
amendments apply prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017.
Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments require disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, includes both changes arising from
cash flow and non-cash changes. One way to meet this new disclosure requirement is to
provide a reconciliation between the opening and closing balances for liabilities from
financing activities.
The Company adopted the amendments to IAS 7 in its consolidated financial statements
for the annual period beginning on October 1, 2017. The adoption of the standard did not
have an impact on the consolidated interim financial statements.
(ii) IAS 12, Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealized Losses:
On January 19, 2016 the IASB issued Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealized
Losses (Amendments to IAS 12). The amendments apply retrospectively for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments clarify that the existence of a deductible temporary difference depends
solely on a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset and its tax base at the end of
the reporting period, and is not affected by possible future changes in the carrying amount
or expected manner of recovery of the asset. The amendments also clarify the
methodology to determine the future taxable profits used for assessing the utilization of
deductible temporary differences.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
(c)

New standards and interpretations adopted (continued):
(ii) IAS 12, Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealized Losses (continued):
The Company adopted the amendments to IAS 12 in its consolidated interim financial
statements for the annual period beginning on October 1, 2017. The adoption of the
amendments did not have an impact on the consolidated interim financial statements.
(iii) Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards (2014-2016) Cycle:
On December 8, 2016 the IASB issued narrow-scope amendments to three standards as
part of its annual improvements process. Each of the amendments has its own specific
transition requirements and effective date.
Amendments were made to the following standard:
•

Clarification that IFRS 12, Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities also applies to
interests that are classified as held for sale, held for distribution, or discontinued
operations, effective retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2017.

The Company adopted the amendment in its consolidated interim financial statements for
the annual period beginning October 1, 2017. The adoption of the amendments did not
have an impact on the consolidated interim financial statements.
(d) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted:
A number of new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet
effective for the three months ended December 30, 2017 and have not been applied in
preparing these unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements. New
standards and amendments to standards and interpretations that are currently under review
include:
(i) IFRS 2, Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions:
On June 20, 2016, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 2, Share-based Payment,
clarifying how to account for certain types of share-based payment transactions. The
amendments apply for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. As a
practical simplification, the amendments can be applied prospectively. Retrospective, or
early application is permitted if information is available without the use of hindsight.
The amendments provide requirements on the accounting for:
•

The effects of vesting and non-vesting conditions on the measurement of cashsettled share-based payments:

•

Share-based payment transactions with a net settlement feature for withholding tax
obligations; and

•

A modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment that changes
the classification of the transaction from cash-settled to equity-settled.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
(d) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted (continued):
(i) IFRS 2, Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions
(continued):
The Company intends to adopt the amendments to IFRS 2 in its consolidated financial
statements for the annual period beginning on September 30, 2018. The extent of the
impact of adoption of the standard on the consolidated financial statements of the
Company has not yet been determined.
(ii) IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers:
On May 28, 2014 the IASB issued IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
IFRS 15 will replace IAS 11, Construction Contracts, IAS 18, Revenue, IFRIC 13,
Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 15, Agreements for the Construction of Real
Estate, IFRIC 18, Transfer of Assets from Customers, and SIC 31, Revenue – Barter
Transactions Involving Advertising Services. The new standard is effective for years
beginning on or after January 1, 2018. Earlier application is permitted.
The standard contains a single model that applies to contracts with customers and two
approaches to recognizing revenue: at a point in time or over time. The model features a
contract-based five-step analysis of transactions to determine whether, how much and
when revenue is recognized. New estimates and judgmental thresholds have been
introduced, which may affect the amount and/or timing of revenue recognized.
The new standard applies to contracts with customers. It does not apply to insurance
contracts, financial instruments or lease contracts, which fall in the scope of other IFRSs.
The Company intends to adopt IFRS 15 in its consolidated financial statements for the
year beginning on September 30, 2018. The extent of the impact of adoption of the
standard on the consolidated financial statements of the Company has not yet been
determined.
(iii) IFRS 16, Leases:
On January 13, 2016 the IASB issued IFRS 16, Leases. The new standard is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. Earlier application is permitted for
entities that apply IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers at or before the date
of initial adoption of IFRS 16. IFRS 16 will replace IAS 17, Leases.
This standard introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to
recognize assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless
the underlying asset is of low value. A lessee is required to recognize a right-of-use asset
representing its right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing its
obligation to make lease payments.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
(d) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted (continued):
(iii) IFRS 16, Leases (continued):
This standard substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements of IAS 17,
while requiring enhanced disclosures to be provided by the lessors. Other areas of the
lease accounting model have been impacted, including the definition of a lease.
Transitional provisions have been provided.
The Company intends to adopt IFRS 16 in its consolidated financial statements for the
annual period beginning on September 29, 2019. The extent of the impact of adoption of
the standard on the consolidated financial statements of the Company has not yet been
determined.
(iv) IFRIC 22, Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration:
On December 8, 2016, the IASB issued IFRIC Interpretation 22, Foreign Currency
Transactions and Advance Consideration.
The Interpretation clarifies that the date of the transaction for the purpose of determining
the exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or
part of it) is the date on which an entity initially recognizes the non-monetary asset or nonmonetary liability arising from the payment or receipt of advance consideration.
The Interpretation is applicable for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
Earlier application is permitted.
The Company intends to adopt the Interpretation in its consolidated financial statements
for the annual period beginning on September 30, 2018, as applicable. The extent of the
impact of adoption of the Interpretation has not yet been determined.
(v) IFRIC 23, Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments:
On June 7, 2017, the IASB issued IFRIC Interpretation 23, Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments.
The Interpretation provides guidance on the accounting for current and deferred tax
liabilities and assets in circumstances in which there is uncertainty over income tax
treatments.
The Interpretation is applicable for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019.
Earlier application is permitted.
The Interpretation requires an entity to:
•

Contemplate whether uncertain tax treatments should be considered separately, or
together as a group, based on which approach provides better predictions of the
resolution;

•

Reflect an uncertainty in the amount of income tax payable (recoverable) if it is
probable that it will pay (or recover) an amount for the uncertainty; and
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3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
(d) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted (continued):
(v) IFRIC 23, Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (continued):
•

Measure a tax uncertainty based on the most likely amount or expected value
depending on whichever method better predicts the amount payable (recoverable).

The Company intends to adopt the Interpretation in its consolidated financial statements
for the annual period beginning on September 29, 2019. The extent of the impact of the
adoption of the Interpretation has not yet been determined.
(vi) Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards (2015-2017) Cycle:
On December 12, 2017 the IASB issued narrow-scope amendments to three standards as
part of its annual improvements process.
The amendments are effective on or after January 1, 2019, with early application
permitted. Each of the amendments has its own specific transition requirements.
Amendments were made to the following standards:
•

IFRS 3, Business Combinations and IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements – to clarify how a
company accounts for increasing its interest in a joint operation that meets the
definition of a business;

•

IAS 12, Income Taxes – to clarify that all income tax consequences of dividends are
recognized consistently with the transactions that generated the distributable profits
– i.e. in profit or loss, OCI, or equity; and

•

IAS 23, Borrowing Costs – to clarify that specific borrowings – i.e. funds borrowed
specifically to finance the construction of a qualifying asset – should be transferred
to the general borrowings pool once the construction of the qualifying asset has
been completed.

The Company intends to adopt these amendments in its financial statements for the
annual period beginning on September 29, 2019. The extent of the impact of adoption of
the amendments has not yet been determined.

4.

Business combinations:
On November 18, 2017, the Company acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of
Decacer for a total consideration of $43.0 million ($42.1 million net of cash acquired) (the
“Decacer Transaction”). The Company financed the acquisition, including transaction costs, with
a draw-down on the Company’s $315.0 million amended credit facility.
Decacer is a major bottler and distributor of branded and private label maple syrup and maple
sugar based in Dégelis, Québec.
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4.

Business combinations (continued):
The Company has determined the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based
on management’s preliminary best estimate of their fair values and taking into account all
relevant information available at that time. As of the reporting date, the Company had not yet
completed the purchase price allocation over the identifiable net assets and goodwill. Information
to confirm the fair value of certain assets and liabilities is still to be obtained. As the Company
obtains more information, the allocation will be completed.
The following table presents the purchase price allocations based on the best information
available to the Company to date:
Identifiable assets and liabilities assumed:
Cash
Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Prepaid expenses
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Trade and other payables
Income taxes payable
Deferred tax liabilities

$
928
3,832
15,711
96
8,131
8,507
(8,310)
(197)
(3,490)

Total net assets acquired
Total consideration transferred
Goodwill (note 11)

25,208
42,989
17,781

Revolving credit facility
Total consideration transferred

$
42,989
42,989

The trade receivables comprise a gross amount of $3.8 million, of which nil million was expected
to be uncollectable at the acquisition date.
Goodwill is attributable primarily to expected synergies and assembled workforce, which were
not recorded separately since they did not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible
assets. Goodwill and intangible assets recorded in connection with this acquisition are not
deductible for tax purposes.
The operating results of Decacer are included in the maple products segment. The consolidated
results of the Company include net sales of $4.9 million and results from operating activities of
$0.5 million related to Decacer since the date of acquisition. If the acquisition had occurred on
October 1, 2017, the consolidated results of the Company would have included net sales of
approximately $10.6 million and results from operating activities of approximately $1.1 million,
based on management’s best estimates. In determining these estimated amounts, management
assumed that the fair value adjustments that arose on the date of acquisition would have been
the same if the acquisition had occurred on October 1, 2017.

ROGERS SUGAR INC.

9

Notes to unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements
(In thousands of dollars except as noted and amounts per share)

4.

Business combinations (continued):
Acquisition-related costs of $0.7 million for legal fees, due diligence costs and other fees have
been expensed in relation to the above business combination. These costs have been recorded
in administration and selling expenses in the consolidated statements of earnings and
comprehensive income.
During the first quarter of fiscal 2018, as additional relevant information was obtained for the
August 5, 2017 acquisition of all of the issued and outstanding shares of LBMT, the Company
adjusted the purchase price allocation resulting in an increase in trade and other receivables of
$3.1 million with the offset to goodwill. As at the reporting date, the Company had not yet
completed the purchase price allocation over the identifiable net assets and goodwill. As the
Company obtains more information, the allocation will be completed.

5.

Depreciation and amortization expense:
Depreciation and amortization expense were charged to the unaudited condensed consolidated
interim statements of earnings as follows:
For the three months ended
December 30,
December 31,
2017
2016
$
$
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment:
Cost of sales
Administration and selling expenses
Amortization of intangible assets:
Administration and selling expenses
Total depreciation and amortization expense

3,348
108
3,456

3,108
104
3,212

687
4,143

53
3,265
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6.

Finance income and finance costs:
Recognized in net earnings:

Net change in fair value of interest rate swap (note 9)
Finance income

7.

For the three months ended
December 30,
December 31,
2017
2016
$
$
135
115
135
115

Interest expense on convertible unsecured subordinated debentures,
including accretion of $119 (2017 - $25) (note 14)
Interest on revolving credit facility
Amortization of deferred financing fees
Other interest expense
Finance costs

1,698
1,426
249
766
4,139

1,586
628
206
2,420

Net finance costs recognized in net earnings

4,004

2,305

Restricted cash:
Restricted cash represents balances assumed by the Company as a result of having acquired all
of the issued and outstanding shares of LBMT. They are as a result of:
(a) On December 1, 2016, LBMT acquired all issued and outstanding Class A shares of Great
Northern with $7.0 million cash consideration (which was placed in escrow), conditionally
payable in quarterly installments contingent on achieving monthly and annual sales volume
targets to a specific client for the twelve-month periods ending November 30, 2017 and
November 30, 2018. The fair value of the contingent consideration was determined to be
$6.6 million and was calculated using a probability-weighted expectation of the payment of
the contingent consideration and a discount rate of 3.45%. As at December 30, 2017, cash
held in an escrow account was $2.5 million and the carrying value of the contingent
consideration payable was $3.0 million (See Note 13, Other long-term liabilities).
(b) On August 26, 2016, LBMT acquired all issued and outstanding common stock of Highland
with $1.7 million (US $1.3 million) as a balance of purchase price payable. Fifty percent of the
balance of purchase price payable was paid on August 26, 2017 and the remainder is to be
paid on February 26, 2018. The fair value of the balance of purchase price payable, as at the
acquisition date, was $1.7 million (US $1.3 million) and was calculated using a discount rate
of 3.14%. Under the share purchase agreement, the amount of the balance of purchase price
was placed in escrow pursuant to an escrow agreement and, as at December 30, 2017, cash
held in an escrow account was $0.8 million, and the carrying value of the balance of the
purchase price payable was $0.8 million (See Note 13, Other long-term liabilities).
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8.

Inventories:
During the three months ended December 30, 2017, the Company recorded an amount of nil
(September 30, 2017 - nil, December 31, 2016 - $0.1 million) related to onerous contracts as
defined in IAS 37 paragraph 66, as a write-down to inventory through cost of sales.

9.

Financial instruments:
Disclosures relating to risks exposures, in particular credit risk, liquidity risk, foreign currency
risk, interest rate risk and equity risk were provided in the September 30, 2017 annual
consolidated financial statements and there have been no significant changes in the Company’s
risk exposures during the three months ended December 30, 2017.
For its financial assets and liabilities measured at amortized cost as at December 30, 2017, the
Company has determined that the carrying value of its short-term financial assets and liabilities
approximates their fair value because of the relatively short periods to maturity of these
instruments.
Details of recorded gains (losses) for the year, in marking-to-market all derivative financial
instruments and embedded derivatives that are outstanding at quarter end, are noted below. For
sugar futures contracts (derivative financial instruments), the amounts noted below are netted
with the variation margins paid or received to/from brokers at the end of the reporting period.
Natural gas forwards and sugar futures have been marked-to-market using published quoted
values for these commodities, while foreign exchange forward contracts have been marked-tomarket using rates published by the financial institution which is counterparty to these contracts.
The fair value of natural gas contracts, foreign exchange forward contracts and interest rate
swap calculations include a credit risk adjustment for the Company’s or counterparty’s credit, as
appropriate.

ROGERS SUGAR INC.

12

Notes to unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements
(In thousands of dollars except as noted and amounts per share)

9.

Financial instruments (continued):
As at December 30, 2017, September 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016, the Company’s
financial derivatives carrying values were as follows:
Financial Assets
Current
Non-Current
December 30, 2017
$
$
Derivative financial instruments
measured at fair value through
profit or loss:
Sugar futures contracts
Foreign exchange forward
contracts
Embedded derivatives
Derivative financial instruments
designated as effective cash
flow hedging instruments:
Natural gas futures contracts
Interest rate swap

221

44

-

-

1,191

984

-

-

-

-

23

-

35
1,447

1,404
2,432

3,735
3,758

2,231
2,231

Financial Assets
Financial Liabilities
NonNonCurrent
Current
Current
Current
September 30, 2017
$
$
$
$
Derivative financial
instruments measured at
fair value through profit
or loss:
Sugar futures contracts
Foreign exchange forward
contracts
Embedded derivatives
Derivative financial
instruments designated
as effective cash flow
hedging instruments:
Natural gas futures
contracts
Interest rate swap

Financial Liabilities
Current
Non-Current
December 30, 2017
$
$

Financial Assets
Financial Liabilities
NonNonCurrent
Current
Current
Current
December 31, 2016
$
$
$
$

93

-

-

37

-

60

102

-

-

1,280

2,712

-

525

819

-

-

-

-

74

-

394

-

-

-

-

-

3,826

2,344

-

-

2,070

3,605

93

1,043
2,323

53
6,665

2,381

919

879

355
2,527

581
4,186
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9.

Financial instruments (continued):
For the three months ended
Charged to cost of sales
Unrealized gain / (loss)
December 30,
December 31,
2017
2016
Derivative financial
instruments measured at
fair value through profit
or loss:
Sugar futures contracts
Foreign exchange forward
contracts
Embedded derivatives
Derivative financial
instruments designated
as effective cash flow
hedging instruments:
Natural gas futures contracts
Interest rate swap

Charged to finance income
(costs)
December 30,
December 31,
2017
2016

Other comprehensive
gain / (loss)
December 30,
December 31,
2017
2016

$

$

$

$

$

$

1,231

(4,594)

-

-

-

-

1,333

(1,113)

-

-

-

-

51

722

-

-

-

-

883
-

848
-

135

115

(680)
313

963
431

3,498

(4,137)

135

115

(367)

1,394

The following table summarizes the Company’s hedging components of other comprehensive
income as at December 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016:
For the three months ended
December 30,
December 31,
2017
2016
$
$
Net (loss) gain on derivative designated as cash flow hedges:
Natural gas futures contracts
Interest rate swap
Income taxes
Hedging (loss) gain

(680)
313
97
(270)

963
431
(367)
1,027

For the three months ended December 30, 2017, the derivatives designated as cash flow hedges
were considered to be fully effective and no ineffectiveness has been recognized in net earnings.
Approximately $0.8 million of net losses presented in accumulated other comprehensive income
are expected to be reclassified to net earnings within the next twelve months.
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10. Other Assets:

Deferred financing charges, net
Other

December 30,
2017
$
1,041
(7)
1,037

September 30,
2017
979
3
982

December 31,
2016
$
461
11
472

Deferred financing charges represent the fees and costs related to the negotiation of the 5-year
credit agreement. Borrowings under the revolving credit facility are short term in nature and can
be repaid at any time. Therefore, deferred financing charges are presented separately and not
applied against the debt (see Note 12, Revolving credit facility).
During the quarter, the Company paid $0.1 million in financing fees to amend its existing
revolving credit facility by drawing additional funds under the accordion feature (see Note 12,
Revolving credit facility).
The fees, along with the outstanding balance of the previously deferred financing charges, are
amortized over the extended life of the revolving credit facility, which matures on June 28, 2022.
11. Goodwill:

Balance, beginning of period
Adjustment of prior year purchase price allocation
Additions through business combination
Balance, end of period
*Includes adjustment of prior year purchase price allocation (See Note 4)

December 30,
2017
$
320,130
17,781
337,911

September 30,
2017 *
$
229,952
(3,098)
93,276
320,130

December 31,
2016
$
229,952
229,952
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11. Goodwill (continued):
Recoverability of cash generating units (“CGU”):
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill and intangibles with indefinite useful life are
allocated to the Company’s operating segments, which represent the lowest level within the
Company at which the goodwill and intangibles are monitored for internal management purposes,
as follows:
December 30,
2017
$

September 30,
2017
$

December 31,
2016
$

229,952

229,952

229,952

107,959
3,790
341,701

90,178 *
2,410
322,540

229,952

Sugar:
Goodwill
Maple products:
Goodwill
Brand names

*Includes adjustment of prior year purchase price allocation (See Note 4)

In assessing whether goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets are impaired, the carrying
amount of the segments (including goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets) are compared to
their recoverable amount. The recoverable amounts of segments are based on the higher of the
value in use and fair value less costs to sell. The Company performed the annual impairment
review for goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets during fiscal 2017, and the estimated
recoverable amounts exceeded the carrying amounts of the segments and, as a result, there was
no impairment identified.
Recoverable amount
The methodology used by the Company to determine the recoverable amount of the sugar and
maple segments was based on the fair values less cost to sell (“FVLCTS”).
The fair values of each segment were based on an earnings multiple applied to forecasted
adjusted EBITDA for the next year, which takes into account financial budgets approved by senior
management. The earnings multiple used was obtained by using market comparables as a
reference.
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12. Revolving credit facility:
On December 20, 2017, the Company amended its existing revolving credit facility thereby
increasing its available credit by $40.0 million by drawing additional funds under the accordion
feature embedded in the revolving credit facility (“Additional Accordion Borrowings”). As a result
of the amended revolving credit facility and the Additional Accordion Borrowings, the Company
has a total of $315.0 million of available working capital from which it can borrow at prime rate,
LIBOR rate or under bankers’ acceptances, plus 20 to 250 basis points, based on achieving
certain financial ratios. Certain assets of the Company, including trade receivables, inventories
and property, plant and equipment, have been pledged as security for the revolving credit facility,
including some of the assets of LBMT. The maturity date of the amended revolving credit facility
is June 28, 2022. A total of $0.1 million was paid in financing fees.
The following amounts were outstanding as of:
December 30,
2017

September 30,
2017

December 31,
2016

$

$

$

87,500

20,000

30,000

140,000

150,000

60,000

227,500

170,000

90,000

Outstanding amount on revolving credit facility:
Current
Non-current

As at December 30, 2017, an amount of $140.0 million is shown as non-current as we don’t
expect it to be repaid within the next 12 months.
The carrying value of the revolving credit facility approximates fair value as the borrowings bear
interest at variable rates.
13. Other long-liabilities:

Opening balance
Business acquisition
Accretion expense

December 30, 2017

September 30, 2017

December 31, 2016

Balance of

Balance of

Balance of

Contingent

purchase

Contingent

purchase

Contingent

purchase

consideration

price

consideration

price

consideration

price

payable

payable

payable

payable

payable

payable

$

$

$

$

$

$

4,469

822

-

-

-

-

-

-

5,573

5,735

-

-

34

6

22

9

-

-

-

6

-

(12)

-

-

(1,461)

-

(1,126)

(4,910)

-

-

3,042

834

4,469

822

-

-

Foreign exchange
adjustment
Payment made
Closing balance
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13. Other long-liabilities (continued):

December 30, 2017

September 30, 2017

December 31, 2016

Balance of

Balance of

Balance of

Contingent

purchase

Contingent

purchase

Contingent

purchase

consideration

price

consideration

price

consideration

price

payable

payable

payable

payable

payable

payable

$

$

$

$

$

$

3,042

834

3,881

822

-

-

-

-

588

-

-

-

3,042

834

822

-

-

Presented as:
Current
Non-current

4,469

14. Convertible unsecured subordinated debentures:
The outstanding convertible debentures are as follows:
December 30,
2017

September 30,
2017

December 31,
2016

$

$

$

Current:
-

-

50,000

60,000

-

-

-

-

(425)

60,000

-

49,575

(372)

-

(111)

(1,188)

-

-

994

-

-

59,434

-

49,464

Fifth series

-

60,000

60,000

Sixth series

57,500

57,500

-

Total face value

57,500

117,500

60,000

Less deferred financing fees

(2,561)

(3,121)

(759)

Less equity component

(2,638)

(3,826)

(1,188)

116

991

803

52,417

111,544

58,856

111,851

111,544

108,320

Fourth series
Fifth series
Conversion of convertible debentures
Total face value
Less deferred financing fees
Less equity component
Accretion expense on equity component
Carrying value – current
Non-current:

Accretion expense on equity component
Carrying value – non current
Total carrying value
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14. Convertible unsecured subordinated debentures (continued):
During the first quarter of fiscal 2017, holders of the Fourth series convertible debentures
converted a total of $0.4 million into 65,384 common shares.
The fair value of the Fifth and Sixth series debentures as at December 30, 2017 were
approximately $124.0 million based on market quotes.

15. Share capital and other components of equity:
As of December 30, 2017, a total of 105,743,582 common shares (September 30, 2017 105,743,582; December 31, 2016 – 93,995,544) were outstanding.
The Company declared a quarterly dividend of $0.09 per share for the three month period ending
December 30, 2017 and December 31, 2016 amounting to the following:

Dividends

December 30,
2017
$
9,517

December 31,
2016
$
8,460

9,517

8,460

16. Earnings per share:
Reconciliation between basic and diluted earnings per share is as follows:
For the three months ended
December 30,
2017

December 31,
2016

Basic earnings per share:
Net earnings

$

Diluted earnings per share:
Net earnings
Plus impact of convertible unsecured
subordinated debentures and share options

13,552
93,868,140

$

0.19

$

0.14

$

20,216

$

13,552

$

21,497

$

14,867

1,281

Weighted average number of shares outstanding:
Basic weighted average number of shares
outstanding
Plus impact of convertible unsecured
subordinated debentures and share options

Diluted earnings per share

$

105,743,582

Weighted average number of shares outstanding
Basic earnings per share

20,216

$

1,315

105,743,582

93,868,140

15,465,602

16,195,776

121,209,184

110,063,916

0.18

$

0.14
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17. Share-based compensation:
(a) Equity-Settled Share-Based Compensation:
The Company has reserved and set aside for issuance an aggregate of 4,000,000 common
shares (September 30, 2017 – 4,000,000 common shares; December 31, 2016 – 4,000,000
common shares) at a price equal to the average market price of transactions during the last five
trading days prior to the grant date. Options are exercisable to a maximum of 20% of the
optioned shares per year, starting after the first anniversary date of the granting of the options
and will expire after a term of ten years. Upon termination, resignation, retirement, death or longterm disability, all share options granted under the Share Option Plan not vested shall be
forfeited.
On December 4, 2017, a total of 1,065,322 share options were granted at a price of $6.23 per
common share to certain executives and senior managers.
During the first quarter of fiscal 2017, a total of 360,000 shares options were granted at a price of
$6.51 per common share to certain executives. In addition, during the first quarter of 2017, a
total of 80,000 common shares (December 30, 2017 – nil; September 30, 2017 – 96,500
common shares) were issued pursuant to the exercise of share options under the Share Option
Plan for total cash proceeds of $428 (December 30, 2017 – nil; September 30, 2017; $521),
which was recorded to share capital as well as an ascribed value from contributed surplus of $23
(December 30, 2017 – nil; September 30, 2017; $28).
Compensation expense is amortized over the vesting period of the corresponding optioned
shares and is expensed in the administration and selling expenses with an offsetting credit to
contributed surplus. An expense of $34 was recorded for the three months ended
December 30, 2017 (an expense of $11 for the three months ended December 31, 2016).
The following tables
December 30, 2017:

summarize

Outstanding
number of
Options
Exercise
options at
granted
price per
September 30, during the
option
2017
period
$4.59
830,000
-

information

Options
exercised
during the
period
-

about

the

Share

Option

Options
Outstanding
forfeited number of options
during the
at December 30,
period
2017
830,000

Plan

as

of

Weighted
average Number of
remaining
options
life exercisable
7.40
320,000

$5.61

80,000

-

-

-

80,000

4.20

$6.23

-

1,065,322

-

-

1,065,322

9.92

80,000
-

$6.51

360,000

-

-

-

360,000

8.92

72,000

1,270,000

1,065,322

-

-

2,335,322

n/a

472,000

Options outstanding held by key management personnel amounted to 2,335,322 options as at
December 30, 2017 and 1,270,000 options as at September 30, 2017 (see note 19).
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17. Share-based compensation (continued):
(a) Equity-Settled Share-Based Compensation (continued):
The measurement date fair values were measured based on the Black-Scholes option pricing
model. Expected volatility is estimated by considering historic average share price volatility. The
inputs used in the measurement of the fair values of the share-based payment plans granted in
the first quarter of fiscal 2018 are the following:
Total fair value of options
Share price
Exercise price
Expected volatility (weighted average volatility)
Option life (expected weighted average life)
Expected dividends
Weighted average risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds)

$373
$6.31
$6.23
16.194% to 17.640%
4 to 6 years
5.71%
1.647% to 1.760%

(b) Cash-Settled Share-Based Compensation:
i) Share Appreciation Rights (“SAR”):
During the first quarter of fiscal 2017, a SAR plan was created under the existing Share
Option Plan that entitle the grantee to a cash payment based on the increase in the share
price of the Company’s common shares from the grant date to the settlement date. During
the first quarter of fiscal 2017, a total of 125,000 SARs were granted at a price of $6.51 to
an executive.
Compensation expense is amortized over the vesting period of the corresponding optioned
shares and is expensed in the administration and selling expenses with an offsetting credit
to liability. An expense of $3 was recorded for the three months ended December 30, 2017
(an expense of $2 for the three months ended December 31, 2016). The liabilities arising
from the SARs as at December 30, 2017 were $19 (September 30, 2017 – $15; December
31, 2016 – $2).
The following table summarizes information about the SARs as of December 30, 2017:
Outstanding
Share
number of units at
price per
September 30,
unit
2017
$6.51
125,000

Units
granted
during the
period
-

Units
exercised
during the
period
-

Units
forfeited
during the
period
-

Outstanding
number of units
at December 30,
2017
125,000

Number of
units
exercisable
-

The measurement date fair values were measured based on the Black-Scholes option
pricing model. Expected volatility is estimated by considering historic average share price
volatility. The inputs used in the measurement of the fair values of the SARs granted in the
first quarter of fiscal 2018 are the following:
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17. Share-based compensation (continued):
(b) Cash-Settled Share-Based Compensation (continued):
i) Share Appreciation Rights (“SAR”) (continued):

Options granted December 5, 2016
Total fair value of SARs
Share price
Exercise price
Expected volatility (weighted average volatility)
Option life (expected weighted average life)
Expected dividends
Weighted average risk-free interest rate (based on government
bonds)

Grant date
$53
$6.63
$6.51
16.520% to 18.670%
2 to 6 years
5.43%
0.740% to 1.160%

Measurement date as
at December 30, 2017
$40
$6.32
$6.51
15.937% to 17.085%
2 to 6 years
5.70%
1.773% to 1.997%

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility over a period similar to
the life of the SARs is indicative of future trends, which may not necessarily be the actual
outcome.
ii) Performance Share Units (“PSU”):
During the quarter, a PSU plan was created for executives with an aggregate of 224,761
PSUs having been granted by the Company and remained outstanding as at
December 30, 2017. These PSUs will vest at the end of the 2017-2020 Performance Cycle
based on the achievement of total shareholder returns set by the Human Resources and
Compensation Committee (“HRCC”) and the Board of Directors of the Company. Following
the end of a Performance Cycle, the Board of Directors of the Company will determine, and
to the extent only that the Vesting Conditions include financial conditions, concurrently with
the release of the Company’s financial and/or operational results for the fiscal year ended at
the end of the Performance Cycle, whether the Vesting Conditions for the PSUs granted to
a participant relating to such Performance Cycle have been achieved. Depending on the
achievement of the Vesting Conditions, between 0% and 200% of the PSUs will become
vested.
The Board of Directors of the Company has the discretion to determine that all or a portion
of the PSUs granted to a participant for which the Vesting Conditions have not been
achieved shall vest to such participant.
The value to be paid-out to each participant will be equal to the result of: the number of
PSUs granted to the participant which have vested, multiplied by the volume weighted
average closing price of the Common Shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange (the “TSX”)
for the five trading days immediately preceding the day on which the Company shall pay the
value to the participant under the PSU Plan, and such date will in no event occur after
December 31 of the third calendar year following the calendar year in which the PSUs are
granted.
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17. Share-based compensation (continued):
(b) Cash-Settled Share-Based Compensation (continued):
i) Performance Share Units (“PSU”) (continued):
An expense of $100 was recorded for the three months ended December 30, 2017
(September 30, 2017 – nil; December 31, 2016 – nil) in administration and selling expenses
with an offsetting credit to liability. The liabilities arising from the PSUs as at December 30,
2017 were $100 (September 30, 2017 – nil; December 31, 2016 – nil).
18. Supplementary cash flow information:
December 30,
2017
$
Non-cash transactions:
Additions of property, plant and equipment and
intangibles included in trade and other
payables
Investment tax credit included in income taxes
payable

December 31, September 30,
2016
2017
$
$

October 1,
2016
$

1,598

1,211

247

135

-

-

-

220

19. Key management personnel:
The Board of Directors as well as the President and all the Vice-Presidents are deemed to be
key management personnel of the Company. The following is the compensation expense for
key management personnel:
For the three months ended
December 30,
December 31,
2017
2016
Salaries and short-term benefits
Attendance fees for members of the Board of Directors
Post-retirement benefits
Share-based compensation

$
656
230
35
34
955

$
981
131
35
11
1,158

Further information about the remuneration of individual directors is provided in the annual
Management Proxy Circular.
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20. Personnel expenses:
For the three months ended
December 30,
December 31,
2017
2016
Wages, salaries and employee benefits
(Income) expenses related to defined benefit plans (1)
Expenses related to defined contributions plans
Share-based compensation

$
22,112
(368)
759
34
22,537

$
18,970
1,224
753
11
20,958

(1) On October 16, 2017, the Alberta Treasury Board and Finance approved an amendment to
the Alberta Hourly Plan which led to the elimination of the reserve for future supplements,
and investment earnings accumulated thereon, effective January 1, 2017. As a result, during
the quarter, a $1.5 million pension income was recorded.
The personnel expenses were charged and capitalized to the unaudited condensed consolidated
interim statements of earnings and statements of financial position, respectively, as follows:
For the three months ended
December 30,
December 31,
2017
2016
Cost of sales
Administration and selling expenses
Distribution expenses
Property, plant and equipment

$
17,423
4,644
357
22,424
113
22,537

$
17,505
3,055
346
20,906
52
20,958

21. Segmented information:
The Company has two operating and reportable segments, sugar and maple products. The
principal business activity of the sugar segment is the refining, packaging and marketing of sugar
products. The Maple products segment processes pure maple syrup and related maple
products. The reportable segments are managed independently as they require different
technology and capital resources. Performance is measured based on the segments’ gross
margins and results from operating activities. These measures are included in the internal
management reports that are reviewed by the Company’s President and CEO, and management
believes that such information is the most relevant in the evaluation of the results of the
segments.
Transactions between reportable segments are interest receivable (payable), which are
eliminated upon consolidation.
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21. Segmented information (continued):

Revenues
Cost of sales
Gross margin
Depreciation and amortization
Results from operating activities
Total assets
Total liabilities
Additions to property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets

Revenues
Cost of sales
Gross margin
Depreciation and amortization
Results from operating activities
Total assets
Total liabilities
Additions to property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets

For the three months ended December 30, 2017
Sugar
Maple
Corporate
Total
products
and
eliminations
$
$
$
$
155,764
49,119
204,883
119,737
42,033
161,770
36,027
7,086
43,113
3,220
28,972
756,225
(919,450)

923
3,041
264,728
(221,871)

(328)
(164,545)
629,634

4,143
31,685
856,408
(511,687)

4,242

164

-

4,406

For the three months ended December 31, 2016
Sugar
Maple
Corporate
Total
products
and
eliminations
$
$
$
$
159,604
159,604
131,428
131,428
28,176
28,176
3,265
20,793
618,145
(787,268)

-

(197)
515
441,144

3,265
20,596
618,660
(346,124)

2,373

-

-

2,373

Revenues were derived from customers in the following geographic areas:

Canada
United States
Other

For the three months ended
December 30, 2017 December 31, 2016
$
$
156,795
149,907
29,712
5,571
18,376
4,126
204,883
159,604

